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Forward-Looking Statements
This report contains forward-looking statements regarding the intent, belief, or current expectations of our manage-
ment with respect to future events or our future financial performance. These statements involve known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our or our industry’s actual results, levels of activity, perfor-
mance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance, or achieve-
ments expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Although we believe that the expectations reflected 
in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no assurance that these expectations will prove to be 
correct, and cannot guarantee our future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. We disclaim any 
obligation to update, or to announce publicly any revision to, any of the forward-looking statements contained in this 
report, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.
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What is J:COM?
In this section, we introduce the J:COM group’s operating structure, our services, 

and the management strategies that are driving our steady growth.

2	 Profile

3	 History

4	 J:COM	Group’s	Operating	Structure

5	 Overview	and	Distinctive	Characteristics	of	J:COM’s	Services

6	 Management	Strategies	and	Growth	Trends

Terms used in this annual report

• Homes passed: Households that are connected to the network and for which service can be provided

• RGUs: Revenue generating units for services supplied

• ARPU: Monthly average revenue per unit

• Bundle ratio: Number of services provided per subscribing household
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Established in �995, Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. is Japan’s largest multiple system 

operator (MSO) and multiple channel operator (MCO). In the Cable Television Division, J:COM 

provides cable television, high-speed Internet access, telephony, and mobile services to 

customers through 24 managed franchises and 48 systems serving approximately 3.�7 million 

subscribing households in the Sapporo, Sendai, Kanto, Kansai, and Kyushu regions. The 

number of homes passed is �2.24 million. In the Content Division, J:COM invests in and 

operates �6 premium channels, which are provided to cable television, satellite, and 

IP multicast providers.

Profile (As of December 3�, 2008)

Mission	Statement

 At J:COM, it is our mission to provide 

video, voice and high-speed Internet access 

services through our advanced broadband 

networks, while offering the benefits of 

digitalization through a variety of high quality 

products that meet our customers’ needs 

and to add rich entertainment and information 

experiences to our customers’ lives.

 We understand that relationships with our 

customers and local communities are core 

elements of our business foundation, and we 

will continue to nurture these precious assets.

 Recognizing the importance that local 

communities place on the credibility of a 

service provider, we pursue further growth 

with sound financial fundamentals, and return 

the benefits of our business activities to local 

communities, shareholders and employees. 

Ultimately, we strive to become an excellent 

company that actively contributes to society.

Activity	Guidelines

 Compliance
All employees of J:COM are required to comply with customary laws and 

regulations as well as with the company’s rules and directions.

 Local Communities
All employees of J:COM should understand the social values of each community, 

and should fulfill the obligations and responsibilities required to build relation-

ships of mutual trust with communities and contribute to their development.

 Customer-Centered Approach
As members of a high quality information and entertainment service provider, all 

employees of J:COM are responsible for maintaining a customer-centered 

approach in order to elevate customer satisfaction.

 Commitment
All employees of J:COM are required to commit to achieving J:COM’s mission 

and its corporate goals. They understand the J:COM management orientation, 

proposing and implementing plans for higher productivity. They continually seek 

out new growth opportunities through interdepartmental cooperation and 

information sharing, and respond rapidly to challenges with maximum flexibility.

 Personal Development
All employees of J:COM should be aware of the role they play within J:COM as 

a corporate group that provides advanced broadband services. They strive to 

learn and comprehend the latest information, marketplace intelligence and 

technologies. They realize that as they engage in various levels of information 

and idea exchanges through their day-to-day work. They are also pursuing 

personal advancement.

Total subscribing households*: 3.17	million

Cable television market share:	 37%	(No.	1)

Unit: Thousands of households

* Number of households subscribing to one or more of the services provided by J:COM.
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1995 Jan  Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. was founded as a joint venture involving Sumitomo Corporation and  

Tele-Communications International, Inc. (now known as Liberty Global, Inc.)

 Mar  Launched cable television services.

1997 Jul Launched telephony services.

1999 Jan Launched high-speed Internet access services.

2000 Sep Acquired the management rights to TITUS Communications Corporation.

2001 Jun Achieved � million total subscribing households.

2003 Sep Launched a high-speed Internet access service with downstream speed up to 30 Mbps, J:COM NET Premier.

 Dec Launched digital services including digital terrestrial broadcasting in Kanto and Kansai regions.

2004 Apr Launched a digital service, J:COM TV Digital.

 May Established Jupiter VOD Co., Ltd.

2005 Jan Launched a video on demand (VOD) service, J:COM On Demand.

 Mar Went public on the JASDAQ Securities Exchange.

 Apr Launched primary IP telephony services.

 Sep Acquired the management rights to Odakyu Telecommunication Services Co., Ltd. (Odakyu Cable Vision).

 Oct Achieved 2 million total subscribing households.

2006 Mar Launched a mobile service, J:COM MOBILE, powered by WILLCOM, Inc.

 Apr Launched a new “HDR” service, a set-top box equipped with a hard disk drive, and InteracTV.

 Sep Acquired the management rights to Cable West Inc.

 Dec Launched J:COM TV Digital Compact.

2007 Apr Launched J:COM NET Ultra �60 Mbps Internet access service.

 Jun Launched J:COM NET Home Monitoring Service.

 July Acquired the management rights to Recruit Visual Communications Co., Ltd.

 Sep Merged with Jupiter TV Co., Ltd.

 Nov Established Channel Ginga Co., Ltd.

2008 Jan Established J:COM West Co., Ltd.

  Launched J:COM earthquake alert service.

  Acquired the management rights to Kyoto Cable Communications Co., Ltd. (Miyavision).

 Feb Acquired a part of the cable television operations of Kobe City Development & Management Foundation.

 Aug Fukuoka Cable Network Co., Ltd. became a consolidated subsidiary.

 Dec Acquired the management rights to Jyohoku New Media Co., Ltd. (Taito Cable Television).

  Acquired the management rights to Mediatti Communications, Inc.

  Distribution of NHK On Demand commenced through J:COM On Demand.

  Achieved 3 million total subscribing households.

2009 Apr Merged with Mediatti Communications.

History
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J:COM—Japan’s	largest	MSO

With cable television operations comprising 24 managed franchises and 48 systems across exten-

sive service areas, J:COM is Japan’s largest multiple system operator (MSO). In the Cable Televi-

sion Division, under the unified J:COM brand, we offer four services—cable television, high-speed 

Internet access, telephony, and mobile.

The term MSO refers to an enterprise that invests in multiple cable television systems, consoli-

dates operations, and manages them as a single company. A distinctive feature of MSO is their 

ability to leverage economies of scale and enhance management efficiency, and to subsequently 

pass those benefits onto customers. In addition to advantages in price negotiations when purchas-

ing facilities or content, MSO can use their capital strength to make large-scale capital investments 

that would not be possible for an independent system, and provide know-how to new systems and 

facilitating smooth operational start-ups.

J:COM Group’s Operating Structure

The	J:COM	group	has	two	operating	divisions—Cable	Television	and	Content.

Channel	Operations	with	indispensable	premium	channels	in	each	genre

Jupiter TV Co., Ltd., Japan’s largest multiple channel operator (MCO), merged with Jupiter Tele-

communications in September 2007. Currently, as a media business, Jupiter Telecommunications 

invests in and operates �6 premium channels.

Channel operations range from investing in and operating premium channels and the acquisition, 

production, and scheduling of content to the supply of programs to cable television, satellite, and 

IP multicast providers. Moreover, in addition to supplying programs, the Content Division is also 

responsible for linking content production and programming to viewer needs.

*J SPORTS provides J sports ESPN, J sports �, J sports 2, and J sports Plus.
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Cable Television

Cable television is J:COM’s core service. J:COM provides J:COM TV Digital, a basic package of 

more than 67 attractive channels, including channels available through digital terrestrial, BS digital, 

and cable digital broadcasting. Including optional channels and data channels, a total of more than 

�00 channels is available. We also offer an array of leading-edge services that leverage the capa-

bilities of digital technologies, such as video on demand (VOD), set-top boxes equipped with hard 

disk drives (“HDR”), and high-definition (HD) content.

To further bolster our competitiveness in comparison to the services of other companies, we will 

enhance our digital services and aim for a digital subscription ratio of �00% by mid-20�0.

Overview and Distinctive Characteristics of J:COM’s Services

High-Speed Internet Access

We offer a variety of competitive high-speed Internet access services including J:COM NET  

Ultra �60 Mbps, which we introduced in April 2007. As we strive to achieve increasingly higher 

transmission speeds, we will also continue working to raise customer satisfaction by providing 

safe, secure, appealing services with a set of security options included in basic charges.

Point: Digital terrestrial broadcasting initiatives
Simply by connecting a set-top box to a TV, viewers can enjoy digital terrestrial broadcast-
ing, even on an analog TV set, without an antenna.

Telephony

We offer a primary IP telephony service that features quality equivalent to conventional standard 

telephony services, local number portability, and emergency calls. This primary IP telephony 

service is offered at both comparatively low monthly basic charges and call charges.

Point: 160 Mbps high-speed Internet service
In July 2008, we substantially completed the rollout of 160 Mbps high-speed Internet 
services across our service areas. We are offering high-speed Internet access services that 
compare favorably with the services offered by the major telecommunications companies.

Point: Provision of high-quality services at reasonable prices
J:COM’s telephony services are high-quality services that offer number portability and emer-
gency calls. With quality equivalent to that of standard telephones, charges are comparatively 
low. Moreover, by subscribing to the “Toku-Toku Talk” optional service for a monthly charge 
of ¥250 (tax excluded), calls between subscribers to J:COM PHONE or J:COM MOBILE are 
free up to the equivalent of ¥10,000 (tax excluded) worth of calls per month.

Subscribing	Households		
by	Service

Mobile

In March 2006, we partnered with WILLCOM, Inc. and began to offer mobile services. In addition 

to telephony services, we are also providing mobile services that offer superior convenience and 

cost performance.

Point: Optional service offering discounts on calls made to the customer’s home
By subscribing to the “Toku-Toku Talk MOBILE” optional service for a monthly charge  
of ¥250 (tax excluded), calls to J:COM PHONE at the customer’s home are free up to the 
equivalent of ¥10,000 (tax excluded) worth of calls per month, and unlimited free calls  
can be made between J:COM MOBILE subscribers.
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Volume Strategy

The volume strategy centers on increasing the number of subscribing households in existing 

service areas and on M&A activities involving other cable television operators.

First, as measures to increase the number of subscribing households in existing service areas, 

the J:COM group has taken steps to increase the number of customer contact points by diversify-

ing sales channels. As a part of these endeavors, for example, the J:COM group has strengthened 

its marketing activities at J:COM Shops near train stations and commercial districts and has 

bolstered web marketing. Moreover, we have steadily extended the network to expand the range of 

potential customers.

Our fundamental policy for M&A activities is to proceed with friendly M&A transactions, princi-

pally in regions contiguous to our existing service areas, with a special emphasis on major urban 

centers, such as Kanto and Kansai. Other potential locations for M&A activities include large 

regional cities. Moving forward, we will aggressively pursue equity-based alliances and acquisitions 

with other cable television operators.

By expanding after-sales follow-up services that are closely linked to local communities, we will 

work to further increase customer satisfaction and prevent cancellations.

Management Strategies and Growth Trends

The	J:COM	group	has	improved	its	performance	through	efforts	centered	on	the	“Volume	+	Value	Strategy,”	which		

is	focused	on	increasing	the	number	of	subscribing	households	and	increasing	ARPU,	and	the	“Content	Strategy,”	

which	is	intended	to	improve	the	quality	of	programs.

Volume strategy points

 Increase number of 
subscribing households 
in existing service areas

 M&A activities involving 
other cable television 
operators

 Prevent cancellations

Volume	Strategy	Indicators
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Value Strategy

The value strategy is intended to increase ARPU. Accordingly, the J:COM group is working  

diligently to increase the bundle ratio and enhance the added value of existing services.

Specifically, we will work to strengthen and enhance digital services—such as video on demand 

(VOD), set-top boxes equipped with hard disk drives (“HDR”), and high-definition (HD) content. In 

this way, we aim to increase the appeal of digital services and promote upgrades from analog 

services, as well as to increase the customer base and usage frequency for pay services, such  

as VOD and “HDR,” thereby increasing ARPU.

Maximizing Corporate Value
Currently, targeting the maximization of corporate value, we are implementing  

a growth strategy under which we have added the Content Strategy to the 

Volume + Value Strategy, which has supported our growth. The J:COM  

group has established a system that provides integrated services, from the 

production, programming, and supply of appealing content to its distribution. 

The J:COM group’s greatest strength in the media content business is the 

combination of both a content distribution infrastructure and appealing content.

Value strategy points

 Increase ARPU

 Increase number of 
services subscribed to per 
subscribing household

 Increase service  
added value

Content strategy points

 Create attractive  
contents

 Promote alliances among 
content providers

Content Strategy

Household subscriber numbers are steadily increasing in the Japanese pay multi-channel broadcast-

ing market, but the market growth rate is slowing down each year. In this setting, for the J:COM 

group to achieve further growth, we must expand the size of the market itself. Accordingly, the  

J:COM group is working to raise the quality of content, centered on the �6 channels we invest in. 

Specifically, in accordance with digital viewership data, customer feedback from the J:COM  

group direct sales representatives and feedback from customers contacting call centers is utilized 

in content production. Also, to change the industry structure characterized by many small and 

medium-sized content providers, we will promote alliances among content providers who compete  

in the same genres.

Value	Strategy	Indicators
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 Yen in millions

 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

Operating	Results:

 Total revenue ¥�6�,346 ¥�83,�44 ¥22�,9�5 ¥264,508 ¥294,308

  Subscription fees �40,826 �63,378 �96,5�5 230,06� 251,849

   Cable television 75,866 85,254 �02,803 �23,07� 134,425

   High-speed Internet access  40,�23 47,425 58,�2� 66,558 73,479

   Telephony 24,837 30,699 35,59� 40,432 43,945

  Other 20,520 �9,766 25,400 34,447 42,459

 Total operating costs and expenses  �38,754 �58,669 �90,333 22�,692 240,633

 Operating income 22,592 24,475 3�,582 42,8�6 53,675

 Income before income taxes �2,679 �6,748 27,503 37,506 47,440

 Net income �0,82� �9,333 24,48� 23,992 27,964

 Operating cash flow (OCF) *� 63,249 70,023 85,957 �07,�78 122,751

 Capital expenditures *2 44,354 54,277 65,903 65,28� 62,395

Financial	Position:

 Total assets ¥439,29� ¥5�6,457 ¥625,948 ¥680,4�6 ¥755,670

 Total shareholders’ equity �38,370 25�,445 277,296 330,009 349,352

 Interest-bearing debt (Gross) 23�,529 �85,�27 242,075 223,0�6 252,964

 Interest-bearing debt (Net)  22�,�09 �49,844 22�,588 200,�26 231,462

Cash	Flows:

 Cash flows from operating activities ¥  52,5�2 ¥ 60,763 ¥  80,003 ¥ 95,226 ¥100,692

 Cash flows from investing activities  (39,882) (57,230) (�2�,60�) (52,728) (76,357)

 Cash flows from financing activities  (9,996) 2�,330 26,80� (40,094) (25,722)

 Free cash flow *3 8,�58 6,486 �4,�0� 29,944 38,296

Per	Share	Data	(Yen):

 Net income—basic *4 ¥ 2,22�.47 ¥ 3,�78.95 ¥ 3,844.83 ¥ 3,650.27 ¥	 4,079.61

 Shareholders’ equity *5 26,888.43 39,5��.48 43,445.59 48,�95.�� 50,940.10

Ratios:

 OCF margin (%) *6 39.2 38.2 38.7 40.5 41.7

 Return on equity (%) *7 9.2 9.9 9.3 7.9 8.2

 Debt to OCF (times) *8 3.7 2.6 2.8 2.� 2.1

 Debt to equity (times) *8 �.7 0.7 0.9 0.7 0.7

*�. OCF = (Total revenue) - (Operating and programming costs) - (Selling, general and administrative expenses) + (Stock compensation expense)

*2. Including capital lease expenditures

*3. Free cash flow = (Cash flows from operating activities) - (Capital expenditures) - (Capital investments via capital leases)

*4. Net income per share is based on the weighted average number of outstanding shares during the term (excluding treasury stock).

*5.  Based on the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of each fiscal year (excluding treasury stock)

*6. OCF margin = (OCF / Total revenue) x �00(%)

*7. Return on equity (ROE) = [Net income / (Total shareholders’ equity at the year end + Total shareholders’ equity at the end of previous year) / 2] x �00(%)

*8. Debt is gross interest-bearing debt.

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries
Years ended December 3�

Financial Highlights
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Total Revenue ¥294.3	billion	(+11%)

Operating Income ¥53.7	billion	(+25%)

Six straight years of revenue growth, achievement of record profits
(YOY)

Net Income ¥28.0	billion	(+17%)

OCF ¥122.8	billion	(+15%)
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Major Results in the Year Under Review (2008)

January February March April May June

January February March April May June

Major Milestones in Year Ended December 2008

Homes Passed 12.24	million	(+30%) Exceed 10 million

Total RGUs 5.61	million	(+19%) Exceed   5 million

Total Subscribing Households 3.17	million	(+19%) Exceed   3 million

(YOY)

Volume	Strategy

Value	Strategy

Content	Strategy

Other

1/31

Acquired management rights to Kyoto 
Cable Communications (Miyavision).

2/29

Partially acquired Kobe City Development 
& Management Foundation’s cable 
television operations (Kobe Cablevision).

3/1

Started broadcasting Suspense Theater 
FOXCRIME, a suspense and mystery 
premium channel, on J:COM TV Digital.

2/1

Started offering three services to all units at THE 
TOKYO TOWERS, a large condominium building 
in Chuo-ku, Tokyo outside the J:COM area.

3/24–30

Held Channel Cafe, an event enabling 
consumers to experience the appeal of 
multi-channel broadcasts, at Roppongi Hills.

4/1

Started broadcasting Channel Ginga on 
J:COM TV Digital.

4/1

Started broadcasting SCI FI Channel, a 
science fiction movie and drama premium 
channel, on J:COM TV Digital.

5/25

Held CLEAN UP OUR 
TOWN regional clean-up 
activities in all service areas.
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July August September October November December

July August September October November December

Newly	consolidated	subsidiaries	(year	ended	December	2008)

Former Kyoto Cable 
Communications

Former Kobe 
Cablevision 

Former Fukuoka  
Cable Network

Taito  
Cable Television

Mediatti 

Homes Passed 320,600 60,300 553,000 80,000 �,224,700

Total RGUs 32,400 �0,500 �93,700 �4,400 300,300

Total Subscribing Households 26,600 7,400 ��5,700 ��,900 2�8,900

Bundle Ratio �.22 �.42 �.67 �.2� �.37

July

Rolled out J:COM NET Ultra �60 Mbps 
high-speed Internet access across nearly 
all service areas.

8/1

Started broadcasting FOX HD on J:COM TV 
Digital, the latest and strongest American 
drama and entertainment channel.

8/25

Made Fukuoka Cable Network  
(currently J:COM Fukuoka) a  
consolidated subsidiary.

12/1

Acquired management rights to Taito 
Cable Television.

12/17

Started offering “HDR Plus”* across 
all service areas.

* See page 20.

12/25

Acquired management rights to  
Mediatti Communications.

10/1

Started broadcasting Discovery Channel 
Hi-Vision, the world’s largest documentary 
channel, on J:COM TV Digital.

12/1

Started broadcasting THE CINEMA,  
a foreign movie specialized channel, on  
J:COM TV Digital.

12/1

Started broadcasting NHK On Demand 
services on J:COM On Demand.
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Interview with the President

Rapidly Taking Action, 
Reinforcing the Foundation 
for Future Growth

J:COM is approaching the full digitalization of terrestrial broadcasting  

as a major opportunity, and will take steps to bolster the structure to 

realize steady growth.
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Results in the Year Under Review
Q1	 Please	explain	to	us	J:COM’s	results	in	the	past	year.

A1	 Through	the	steady	implementation	of	our	growth	strategies,	we	recorded	higher	

revenues	for	the	sixth	consecutive	year	and	achieved	record	high	profits.

First, under the volume strategy, which targets growth in the number of subscribing households, we 

completed five M&A transactions in cable television operations and made progress in strengthening 

and expanding our operational foundation. In December, we acquired Mediatti Communications, 

Inc., the third largest company in the industry. As a result, we not only expanded our service area in 

the Kanto region but also established a presence in Sendai. Also, to increase our contact points 

with customers, we worked to open additional J:COM Shops across our service areas. As a result 

of this aggressive implementation of the volume strategy, the number of homes passed broke 

through the �0 million mark, reaching �2.24 million, and total RGUs surpassed 5 million, increasing 

to 5.6� million. The total number of subscribing households passed 3 million, rising to 3.�7 million.

Next, under the value strategy, which is aimed at achieving gains in ARPU, we worked to develop 

our �60 Mbps high-speed Internet access service and to increase usage of our “HDR” and VOD ser-

vices. In the past year, ARPU was ¥7,789, an increase of ¥�02. Excluding newly consolidated com-

panies during the year, ARPU was ¥7,805. At year-end, the bundle ratio was �.77, the same as a year 

earlier. Excluding newly consolidated companies during the year, the bundle ratio increased to �.82.

On the other hand, under the content strategy, we introduced Channel Ginga, which is targeted 

at senior citizens. In addition, we reshuffled our high-definition (HD) content and worked to en-

hance our channel lineup.

As a result, total revenue was up ��% year on year, to ¥294.3 billion, and operating income rose 

25%, to ¥53.7 billion. OCF was up �5%, to ¥�22.8 billion, and the OCF margin was 4�.7%, an 

increase of �.2 percentage points. Since 2002, we have achieved six consecutive years of higher 

revenue, and we set record highs in operating income and net income. Consequently, total revenue 

has increased 2.5 times since 2002, and operating income has increased 4.� times since 2003, 

when we moved into the black at the operating level.

Q2	 What	is	the	reason	that	J:COM	has	been	able	to	record	these	strong	results?

A2	 In	addition	to	steady	progress	with	the	Volume	+	Value	growth	strategy,	I	believe	that	

this	success	is	the	result	of	our	efforts	to	increase	the	number	of	subscribing	house-

holds	and	to	reduce	the	churn	rate	through	improved	customer	satisfaction.

Cable television is said to be generally resistant to the influence of economic fluctuations. In par-

ticular, J:COM’s customer base includes a large number of households with comparatively high 

incomes, and accordingly the influence of the weakening economic conditions is limited.

However, by far we owe our success to aggressively undertaking M&A activities and sincere 

efforts toward increasing the number of subscribing households by providing appealing services 

and decreasing the churn rate by improving customer satisfaction. In the past year, as one facet of 

our customer-focused sales strategies, we have worked to increase contact points with customers 

and to raise customer satisfaction through the development of J:COM Shops that customers can 

casually visit. It is through such endeavors, I believe, that we have been able to achieve steady 

growth even in times of sluggish economic conditions.

Future Business Strategies
Q3	 What	will	be	the	key	to	the	strengthening	of	acquired	systems	to	the	point	where	they	

can	make	a	contribution	to	J:COM?

A3	 The	key	will	be	to	work	quickly	to	make	them	a	part	of	the	J:COM	team,	accelerate	

their	acquisition	of	subscribers,	and	thoroughly	rationalize	their	operations.
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J:COM is not simply increasing the scale of its operations through mergers; we have achieved 

favorable results by providing acquired systems with know-how, accelerating the acquisition of 

subscribers, and improving ARPU.

In the year under review, we completed five strategically important M&A transactions. With the excep-

tion of the former Fukuoka Cable Network Co., Ltd., which had been a J:COM managed company, 

all of the acquired systems are substantially below J:COM averages in all metrics, such as regional 

penetration rate, ARPU, bundle ratio, OCF margin, and the quality and range of provided services.

Accordingly, the operational efficiency of these systems will be dramatically improved by enhanc-

ing system management to J:COM standards, and we expect to see further improvement in our 

consolidated results. Specifically, we will take steps to leverage the know-how that the J:COM group 

has cultivated, by introducing J:COM sales methods, unifying product and service content, and 

integrating customer management systems. In this way, we will increase management efficiency.

As one facet of that, in December 2008, we acquired Mediatti Communications, which became a 

consolidated subsidiary, and on April �, 2009, J:COM and Mediatti Communications merged. 

Furthermore, from July 2009, the services offered by six companies in the former Mediatti Com-

munications group will be integrated with J:COM services in a phased manner.

Q4	 Would	you	describe	J:COM’s	initiatives	in	advance	of	the	start	of	the	full	digitalization	

of	terrestrial	broadcasting	in	July	2011?

A4	 To	ensure	that	we	can	take	full	advantage	of	this	excellent	opportunity,	we	have	

launched	the	Digital	Project.	

In Japan, the number of subscribing households to pay multi-channel broadcasting services 

reached �0.6 million* at the end of September 2008.

On the other hand, as the start of digital terrestrial broadcasting in July 20�� approaches, the 

broadcasting and telecommunications industries are undergoing significant change. For example, 

large telecommunications carriers are preparing to offer retransmission services of digital terrestrial 

broadcasting. Cable television operators of all sizes are confronted with this situation.

The major changes accompanying the start of digital terrestrial broadcasting will be highly signifi-

cant opportunities for the J:COM group, which is aggressively moving ahead with the transition to 

digital services. To take advantage of those opportunities, we launched the Digital Project in fall 

2008. This project is intended to provide a foothold for sales for the start of digital terrestrial broad-

casting, to cultivate new groups of customers that we have not yet been able to reach, and to 

further strengthen our revenue/profit foundation.

* Please refer to the graph on the left, Pay Multi-Channel TV Market.

Q5	 	What	initiatives	are	J:COM	undertaking	to	strengthen	and	enhance	TV	

services?

A5	 	We	are	working	to	convert	channels	to	HD,	to	expand	VOD	services,	and	

to	increase	“HDR”	contracts.

Currently, J:COM TV digital premium channels include 7 HD channels, and we plan to 

add �0 more channels in 2009. As a result, HD channels, including both digital terres-

trial broadcasting and BS digital broadcasting, will account for approximately 40% of 

all of our channels. 

Moreover, in VOD services, to expand the base of subscribing households, we will 

further improve the control screen, making it simpler to operate, including searching 

for content to purchasing it. Furthermore, we will work to promote the use of NHK On 

Demand, which was launched in December 2008, and will introduce content as 

rapidly as possible, centered on Hollywood films and other new releases.
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Currently, the number of subscribing households to the “HDR” service is increasing favorably. In 

December 2008 we introduced “HDR Plus” with increased hard disk capacity to 500 GB, double the 

previous size, which includes a DVD drive. As a result, we expect that customer convenience and 

satisfaction will increase, leading to further gains in the number of subscribing households and ARPU.

Q6	 Please	describe	the	steps	that	you	will	take	to	differentiate	J:COM	from	other	companies.	

A6	 The	biggest	point	of	differentiation	is	the	use	of	detailed	after-sales	follow-up		

services	that	are	closely	linked	to	local	communities.	We	will	establish	the	system	

needed	for	those	initiatives	and	offer	customers	a	reassuring	environment	in	which	

they	can	casually	consult	with	J:COM.

The strengthening of after-sales follow-up services is an important policy from the viewpoint of 

differentiating the J:COM group from its competitors. In preparation for an increasingly severe 

competitive environment, we must take thorough steps to raise customer satisfaction even further 

in order to prevent cancellations.

Accordingly, the expansion of opportunities and places for customers to casually consult with  

J:COM personnel, in addition to direct sales representatives, is becoming more important. As one 

facet of that, we will strengthen our specialized after-sales support units and expand contact 

points with customers by diversifying sales channels. We have opened 50 J:COM Shops, and we 

plan to open about 40 more shops in 2009, giving us a total of about 90.

Moreover, we will introduce a program to promote long-term subscriptions as an effective  

follow up measure implemented in accordance with the duration of customer subscriptions and 

their profiles.

Since J:COM was established, our corporate key concept has been “community-based.” We 

have worked accordingly to provide detailed services and to differentiate ourselves from our 

competitors. Through high-quality after-sales follow up that cannot be duplicated by competitors, 

we will promote long-term subscriptions through improvement in customer satisfaction. In addition, 

we will work to obtain subscriptions to additional services, as well as to increase new customer 

subscriptions resulting from word-of-mouth referrals.

Q7	 Please	point	out	the	role	of	the	J:COM	group	in	activating	the	pay	multi-channel	market.

A7	 To	increase	the	household	penetration	rate	of	pay	multi-channel	broadcasting		

services,	we	are	working	to	increase	content	quality.

The household penetration rate for domestic pay multi-channel broadcasting services is holding 

steady, although, at a low level of about 20%. I believe that one of the reasons for this low penetra-

tion rate is a shortage of appealing content that satisfies customers. To activate the market and 

increase the household penetration rate for these services, J:COM, as an industry leader, must 

undertake a full-scale initiative to improve content quality.

Accordingly, J:COM will first work to strengthen its content procurement and production func-

tions. Specifically, through the integration of production departments, such as community chan-

nels, VOD, and InteracTV, we will bolster the content production function. Moreover, by integrating 

the content procurement of channels that we have invested in, we will bolster procurement capa-

bilities and expand the content lineup.

Next, utilizing abundant management resources, such as direct feedback from customers re-

garding programs and digital viewership data, we will leverage user preferences to improve content 

production. For example, for Channel Ginga, we began broadcasting in April 2008, and we took 

steps to reorganize the content in fall 2008, such as increasing period dramas and domestic 

dramas. This reorganization was implemented in accordance with our analysis of customer feed-

back and viewership data. 
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Moreover, J:COM has the largest domestic content businesses and domestic cable television 

operations, and accordingly we must work to change the industry structure. Currently, many small 

and medium-sized content providers are competing with each other, and we will take steps to 

promote alliances among content providers that are competing in the same genres.

Outlook
Q8	 Please	tell	us	the	outlook	for	the	fiscal	year	ending	December	2009	and	the	direction		

J:COM	will	take	to	achieve	sustained	growth	over	the	medium	term.	

A8	 We	will	implement	initiatives	designed	to	enhance	our	performance	without	relying	on	

M&A	activities.

The domestic economy is expected to worsen further in 2009 under the influence of the 

global depression. In this environment, on account of further increases in penetration 

rates and ARPU, we are forecasting another record-setting performance, with a �2% year 

on year gain in total revenue, to ¥330.0 billion, a �2% rise in operating income, to ¥60.0 

billion, and growth of �4% to �6% in OCF. 

As one facet of its volume strategy, J:COM has actively implemented M&A activities. 

We will not change our policy of advancing friendly M&A transactions. We will focus 

principally on regions contiguous to our existing service areas, centered on major urban 

areas, such as Kanto and Kansai. Moreover, as we did with the newly added Sendai 

service area, we are also considering M&A activities in major regional cities.

On the other hand, as the reorganization of major cable television operators progresses, 

large-scale M&A transactions will likely begin to decrease. Accordingly, in addition to increased 

revenue resulting from the enhancement of newly consolidated subsidiaries to J:COM standards, 

we believe that the achievement of steady growth in existing areas will be a key issue. The entire 

company will work to make progress in this area.

Shareholder Return
Q9	 Finally,	please	explain	to	us	your	plans	in	relation	to	shareholder	return.

A9	 From	the	year	under	review,	we	began	to	pay	dividends.	In	the	future,	we	will	work	to	

sustain	a	stable	return	of	profits	to	shareholders	while	maintaining	a	balance	between	

investing	in	growth	and	providing	a	shareholder	return.

From the year under review, as we worked to enhance internal reserves while aiming to implement 

stable, continuous profit return initiatives, we started dividend payments at ¥750 per share for the 

year. And in the fiscal year ending December 2009, we plan to increase dividends for the year to 

¥980 per share.

In the years ahead, while maintaining a balance between investing in growth and providing a 

return of profits to shareholders, we will work to ensure a stable, continuous return of profits.

The J:COM group will move boldly to take on the challenges it faces in achieving sustained 

growth while navigating through the intensely competitive operating environment.

May 2009

Tomoyuki Moriizumi

President and Chief Executive Officer

Per	Share	Dividends	
for	the	Year

Fiscal year ended  
December 2008

¥750*
Fiscal year ending 
December 2009

¥980
(tentative)

*  Including special dividend of  

¥250 per share.
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What is J:COM’s Competitive Edge?
With the entry of major telecommunications carriers into the broadcasting business, 

J:COM’s operating environment is undergoing dramatic change each year. In this 

environment, J:COM has generated steady growth, achieving higher revenues for the 

sixth consecutive year and record high profits.

Why is J:COM able to achieve strong growth in a challenging competitive environ-

ment? In this section, we explain J:COM’s competitive edge with a focus on three 

areas—sales capabilities, service competitiveness, and after-sales follow-up services. 

18	 Sales	Capabilities

20	 Service	Competitiveness

22	 After-Sales	Follow-Up	Services

Special Feature
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Highly responsive, customer-focused sales closely linked to local communities

No matter how good products and services are, customers have to be able to understand the 

features and appeal of those products and services, because if they cannot, they are more likely to 

cancel their subscriptions after a short period of time. Also, in cable television services, different 

communities have different preferences. In consideration of local community characteristics and 

needs, the most important thing—in effectively communicating products and services to each 

individual customer—is responsive and customer-focused sales capabilities.

J:COM has about 2,300 sales personnel working across all its service areas. These employees 

provide face-to-face and easy-to-understand explanations of digital services and equipment use. 

Rather than simply selling products and services, we also provide warm, detailed support, thereby 

building relationships of trust with customers. This approach is what has built J:COM’s current opera-

tional foundation. On the sales front lines, all of our sales representatives exemplify our philosophy 

of close links to local communities while they strive to ensure that as many people as possible can 

enjoy J:COM services. We are proud of the fact that these sales capabilities, which draw on J:COM’s 

distinctive strengths, are unrivaled, even in the broadcasting and telecommunications industries.

Expanding contact points with customers

At J:COM, we have worked to strengthen relationships of trust with customers, centered on home 

visits by direct sales representatives. On the other hand, it is difficult to meet the needs of all cus-

tomers with just door to door sales, so we are working to expand contact points with customers.

As one facet of those efforts, we are developing J:COM Shops. In addition to enhancing aware-

ness of J:COM and its services, these shops also help in the acquisition of new subscribers and 

respond to consultations with existing customers. The shops offer the opportunity to actually 

experience not just cable television services but all of the other services provided by the J:COM 

group as well. In this way, we can communicate the appeal of our services and acquire new 

subscribers. In addition, the shops also play an important role in encouraging existing customers 

to subscribe to additional services.

Moving forward, we will continue working to expand contact points with customers, strengthen 

links among sales channels, and establish a system facilitating smoother, more efficient communi-

cations with our valued customers.

J:COM	has	an	outstanding	sales	force	that	cannot	be	readily	replicated	by	satellite	broadcasters	or	

major	telecommunications	carriers.	For	example,	our	appealing	products	and	services	are	explained	in	

detail	in	face-to-face	meetings	with	customers.

Sales Capabilities

J:COM Shop Sagamihara

*�.  Sales staff specializing in bulk 

contracts for MDUs (multiple 

dwelling units).

*2.  Sales staff who work to persuade 

businesses, such as general merchan-

dise stores, real estate agents, and 

shops, to serve as agents for J:COM 

services.

*3.  Sales staff who specialize in providing 

existing customers with support and 

guidance for additional services.
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What are the advantages of door to door sales?

By visiting homes, we can offer courteous explanations carefully 

tailored to each customer’s degree of understanding. We can 

propose services that match their needs, interests, and prefer-

ences. For example, digital services are extremely convenient. 

However, some customers cannot use complex digital functions 

right away. Accordingly, we work hard to “sell digital services 

with an analog mindset.” We provide explanations and make 

proposals for each customer so that after he or she has a 

sufficient understanding of the content and appeal of our 

services, the customer becomes a subscriber.

In contrast to door to door sales, what is the role of the  

J:COM Shops?

As a new contact point with customers, J:COM Shops facilitate 

an approach to customer groups that are not easily reached 

through door to door sales. At the same time, these shops also 

play a key role acquiring subscriptions through a combination of 

detailed face-to-face explanations of services and the opportu-

nity to actually experience those services. Many of the custom-

ers who come into the shops typically have had few chances  

to contact J:COM through customer centers or direct sales 

representatives. I work as both a direct sales representative and 

a shop representative, and I am experiencing steady growth in 

opportunities to meet with customers via shops.

With other companies offering a growing range of services, 

getting customers to use J:COM services for a long period of 

time is a key challenge for the J:COM group, and I would like  

for J:COM Shops to serve as a model for one of the ways to 

overcome that challenge.

What advantages do J:COM Shops have?

At J:COM Shops, the appeal of our services can be directly 

experienced. For high-speed Internet access services, we have 

four plans with different access speeds, and the customers 

have the chance to compare the actual access speeds. As a 

result, we have obtained many subscriptions from customers 

who signed up for high-speed Internet access services after 

directly experiencing them in the shop, even though they had 

never subscribed to these services in the past.

Furthermore, if customers are thinking of canceling, we  

can reemphasize the appeal of our services and thereby  

encourage them to maintain their subscriptions. Since we 

opened J:COM Shop Shonan C-X in April 2008, we have had 

many repeat visitors. We can see that they like J:COM and  

are satisfied with our services. Moving forward, we expect the 

number of people visiting the shop to increase through word of 

mouth and introductions.

In the future, will door to door sales and J:COM Shops 

drive growth?

Many competitors operate call centers, but there are limits to 

how much guidance can be provided over the phone. Even if 

the operator does their best to explain, the way in which the 

explanations are received differs from person to person. As the 

number of senior citizens increases in the future, I think it will be 

even more important to 

meet face to face, provide 

guidance and plans tailored 

to each person, and ensure 

customer satisfaction. I 

believe that the role of door 

to door sales and J:COM 

Shops will become even 

more important for the  

long-term growth of J:COM 

as a partner with local 

communities.

Wakako	Egi
J:COM Shop Shonan C-X, Shonan System

J:COM Shonan Co., Ltd.

Door to door sales and J:COM Shops will 

play a major role in J:COM’s growth.

Employee Interview



“HDR” VOD service J:COM On Demand High-definition (HD) programs

 Hard disk drive (250 GB) and  
double tuner

 Record one program while watching 
another, or record two programs at once

 Record approximately 20 hours  
of high-definition (HD) programs  
without loss of quality

 We introduced “HDR Plus,” with a  
500 GB hard disk drive and a DVD  
drive in December 2008 

 With one remote control, you can 
view what you want, when you want

 Content can be viewed multiple times 
within the viewing period

 About 17,800 titles are provided in a 
wide range of genres including 
movies, dramas, sports, and anima-
tions (as of the end of the fiscal year)

 About 25% of all channels are HD 
including both digital terrestrial and 
BS digital broadcasting 

 10 high-definition (HD) channels will 
be added to the channel lineup, and 
plans call for about 40% of all chan-
nels to be HD by the end of 2009
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Appealing digital services

A	distinctive	feature	of	J:COM’s	operations	is	the	comprehensive	offering	of	three	services—cable	televi-

sion,	high-speed	Internet	access,	and	telephony—over	a	single	cable.	To	achieve	sustained	growth,	we	

will	strengthen	the	competitiveness	of	each	service	and	provide	higher	added	value.

Service Competitiveness

Making advanced services a major competitive strength

J:COM’s mission is to use advanced technologies to provide high-quality products, thereby en-

abling customers to enjoy comfortable lifestyles. That is why we were the first to develop digital 

services. In cable television, J:COM’s core service, we offered advanced services that drew on the 

special characteristics of digital services, such as VOD, “HDR,” and high-definition (HD) contents, in 

advance of competitors. This has become a point of differentiation from competitors and a source 

of our superior competitiveness.

Offering safe, secure high-speed Internet access service with robust security

With the J:COM group’s high-speed Internet access service, many services that are fee-based with 

competitors are included in our basic charges, such as providing robust security. We provide an 

environment that is reassuring and comfortable for our customers. And in terms of speed, we offer 

competitive rates on our J:COM NET Ultra �60 Mbps high-speed Internet access service, which is 

faster than the �00 Mbps services offered by major telecommunications carriers. Accordingly, an 

increasing number of customers have switched from the plans of major telecommunications carriers 

to our �60 Mbps service, and the number of subscribing households is expanding at a pace that 

exceeded our initial plans.

Providing content that customers want to watch

J:COM invests in and operates a variety of premium channels. A key feature of these services is the 

high degree of integration, which extends from operations—such as content procurement, produc-

tion, and scheduling—to the supply of programs to cable television, satellite, and IP multicast 

providers. Furthermore, we strive to make each channel the most popular in its genre in terms of the 

number of subscribing households. To that end, we make full use of our management resources, 

such as direct feedback from J:COM TV subscribers and digital viewership research, and we strive 

to achieve higher programming quality.
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Would you provide an overview of your job responsibilities?

Currently, I am responsible for the procurement of various 

programs for our VOD service “J:COM On Demand.” These  

programs cover a wide range of genres, from movies and 

animations to dramas, music, humor, rakugo comic storytelling, 

and karaoke. Currently, we have about �7,800 titles. To meet 

the wide range of customer needs, we procure about �,000 

titles a month from about �00 companies, such as movie 

distributors, animation producers, and terrestrial broadcasters.

What features constitute the key points of differentiation 

of J:COM On Demand?

The key point about VOD services is that customers can 

choose what they want to watch and when they want to watch 

it. Accordingly, a major feature is offering a broad lineup of titles 

in a wide variety of genres. Also, in comparison with VOD 

services offered by other companies, the speed with which  

J:COM offers the latest releases is another merit. Generally 

speaking, the release schedule for movies starts with movie 

theaters, followed by DVD sales and DVD rentals, and then VOD 

distribution. After that, the movies are made available on pay 

channels. With J:COM On Demand, however, the period from 

theatrical release to VOD distribution is shortened, and some 

products are even offered at the same time as DVD sales. Also, 

to expand our customer base further, we are offering movie 

previews before theatrical release on Free On Demand, a free 

VOD service.

In contrast to competing services, such as video rentals 

and Internet video, what advantages does J:COM offer?

First, the biggest advantage of VOD is there is no need to travel 

back and forth to the store to rent and return DVDs. Also, 

customers do not have to worry about not being able to watch 

what they want because it has been completely rented out. This 

type of highly convenient service is provided at prices that are 

not substantially different from those of DVD rental stores. Also, 

Internet-based VOD services are increasing, but for movies and 

other videos, enjoying them on the TV with the entire family is 

more suitable than watching them on a personal computer.

Moreover, J:COM has a dominant advantage in terms of its 

product lineup and procurement system.

What other initiatives is J:COM undertaking in the area 

of procurement?

As much as possible, we are analyzing data related to our  

VOD service, including requests from customers who contact 

customer centers and J:COM TV Digital viewership data, and 

using it in the procurement process.

We are also striving to ensure that our procurement activities 

reflect consideration for the characteristics of our wide-ranging 

customer base. For example, for families, we have animations 

that parents can enjoy together with their children, and we have 

also begun to offer regional films set in local communities.

Moreover, with our VOD service, we can clearly see how 

customers evaluate the products by looking at the purchase 

data. Our procurement 

reflects the data about the 

content that customers 

want to watch. That is 

another special feature of 

our VOD services.

I would like to help 

as many people as pos-

sible to learn about the 

attractiveness of our 

services and to expand 

the customer base for  

our VOD services.

Yuko	Hirota
Programming & Acquisitions Assistant Manager

Jupiter VOD

Jupiter Entertainment Co., Ltd.

We want more people to know about 

the attractiveness of our VOD service.

Employee Interview
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Support that prioritizes a close rapport with customers

Prior to the period of full-fledged competition with competitors, such as major telecommunications 

carriers, J:COM has led the industry in the introduction of digital services and other high-value-

added services. However, while increasingly advanced services and digital services are convenient 

for the customer, they also have the disadvantage of being more complex and difficult to use. For 

example, cable television remote controls have so many buttons that it is difficult to understand all 

of the functions. Consequently, their use is limited, and their appeal is not always fully understood. 

If subscribers do not understand how to operate the equipment, then they are less likely to be 

satisfied and less likely to continue to subscribe. That is why we believe it is important to provide 

detailed explanations of complex functions while meeting face to face with individual customers 

and to ensure that they understand. Since our establishment, we have emphasized support that is 

centered on direct contact with customers, and this approach is a strength that is not easily 

replicated by competitors.

Providing after-sales follow-up services that have value for customers

At J:COM, we strive to offer after-sales follow-up services that have value for customers. In 

 customer centers, for example, we have established J:COM NET Support Centers, which are 

specialized in Internet services and staffed by operators who have advanced, specialized skills. 

In addition, we have introduced remote support systems that enable representatives to view the 

same screen as the customer. We aim to provide detailed after-sales follow-up services in line 

with customer needs and to ensure their satisfaction while promoting the long term usage of  

J:COM services.

After-sales follow-up service system

With slow growth in the pay multi-channel market slack and poor economic conditions, J:COM’s 

operating environment is expected to become more difficult in the years ahead. Accordingly, 

increasing customer satisfaction and minimizing cancellations will be even more important for  

J:COM. Consequently, we will build a scheme that facilitates even smoother, more effective com-

munications with customers.

Specifically, we promote an environment where customers feel free to consult with us, no matter 

how minor the issue. For example, one facet of that approach is a new system for after-sales 

follow-up services—a media concierge* in THE TOKYO TOWERS, a large condominium building in 

Chuo-ku, Tokyo.

We will make full use of our courteous after-sales follow-up services as a marketing tool that 

draws on the distinctive strengths of a community-based organization, and we will strive to lever-

age those services to secure subscriptions to additional services by existing subscribers and to 

acquire new subscribers by word of mouth.

*Staff responsible for providing guidance and support for all J:COM services.

Since	its	founding,	J:COM	has	worked	to	increase	customer	satisfaction	through	after-sales	follow-up	services	

that	are	closely	linked	to	local	communities.	In	a	difficult	operating	environment	marked	by	economical	slow-

down	conditions,	detailed	after-sales	follow-up	services	are	a	major	point	of	differentiation	for	J:COM.

After-Sales Follow-Up Services

THE TOKYO TOWERS
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Please describe the job of “media concierge.”

I am responsible for the media concierge job at THE TOKYO 

TOWERS, a large condominium building in Chuo-ku, Tokyo.  

J:COM provides optical fiber ultra-high-speed Internet access 

services at comparatively low prices to all of the units in the 

condominium building, a total of about 2,800 units. We also 

offer cable television and telephony services. The media con-

cierge plays an important role in providing support for all J:COM 

services, including guidance and consultations.

Specifically, residents can use a direct phone to connect to 

the concierge and ask questions. In the event that the issue 

cannot be resolved over the phone, we would immediately visit 

the residence. Our ability to provide courteous, prompt service 

on any issue no matter how small is a major distinctive feature 

of the media concierge.

What types of questions and requests do you commonly 

handle?

At THE TOKYO TOWERS, we began to offer J:COM services as 

soon as a resident moves in. As a result, many of the consulta-

tions regarded initial Internet settings. Residents were quite 

busy after moving, and it was very convenient for them to be 

able to immediately get help from a media concierge. No matter 

what the issue was, we worked hard to offer warm and friendly 

consultations, to respond promptly, and to provide explanations 

in an easy-to-understand way.

Would you elaborate on the roles of representatives who 

specialize in after-sales follow-up services in the same 

manner as a media concierge?

J:COM also has specialists known as “follow-up representatives.” 

Their role is to support subscribers, with the mission of provid-

ing support that encourages customers to use J:COM services 

for longer periods of time. These follow-up representatives go 

straight to the customer, regardless of the customer’s durations 

as a J:COM subscriber, and solve the problem. Their aim is to 

increase customer satisfaction. It is the policy of follow-up 

representatives to respond to requests made through call 

centers within 24 hours.

The J:COM group actively recommends that all sales repre-

sentatives, including follow-up representatives, acquire the 

“Home Electric Appliance Advisor Engineer” certification. 

Currently, more than �,000 employees in the J:COM group  

have acquired this certification.

What is the difference between J:COM’s after-sales 

follow-up services and those of other companies?

First, customers experience close relationships with J:COM. 

We provide a sense of reassurance that “J:COM is nearby.”  

For J:COM employees, we work hard not just to explain  

J:COM’s services but rather to also explain the customer’s 

options, including the services of other companies. By  

doing that, customers  

feel a sense of 

reassurance that  

“we can consult  

J:COM.”

Given the features 

of our services, we 

are confident that  

we will not lose  

out to competitors.  

We offer objective 

explanations of 

competitors’ ser-

vices and point  

out the appeal  

of J:COM.

Daisuke	Hanazawa
Media Concierge, THE TOKYO TOWERS

J:COM Tokyo Co., Ltd.

Reassuring customers with  

a nearby presence.

Employee Interview
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Overview of Results
We offer J:COM TV Digital as a package that includes a total of more than 67 appealing channels, 

including digital terrestrial, BS digital, and cable digital broadcasting, as well as services that 

leverage the characteristics of digital services, such as VOD and InteracTV. 

In the domestic pay multi-channel market, the number of subscribing households is increasing 

steadily each year, reaching �0.6 million subscribing households at the end of September 2008, an 

increase of 0.3 million year on year, for a penetration rate of about 2�%*. In recent years, however, 

the rate of growth has slowed, and major telecommunications companies and companies from 

other industries are entering the market at a growing rate. The J:COM group’s operating environ-

ment is consequently increasingly challenging.

In this setting, the number of subscribing households to the J:COM group’s cable television 

services rose �7%, or 369,000, reaching 2,557,000 subscribers at year-end. This gain was attribut-

able to an increase in subscribing households in existing service areas as well as to the acquisition 

of subscribers in new service areas due to M&A transactions. In digital services, the number of 

subscribing households rose 36%, or 526,800, to �,997,000, and at the end of the fiscal year, the 

digital subscription ratio was 78%, an increase of �� percentage points from the level of 67% a 

year earlier. Consequently, cable television service subscription fees were up 9%, or ¥��.4 billion, 

to ¥�34.4 billion. Cable television service subscription fees from existing consolidated subsidiaries 

were up 6%.

* Source: Hoso Journal (December 2008 edition), Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications

Review of Operations

Points

 Increased number of 
subscribing households 
in existing service areas

 Area expansion through 
M&A transactions

Subscribing	Households 2.56 million +17%

Subscription	Fees ¥134.4 billion +9%
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Increasing	Convenience	in	Digital	Services

With the objective of raising profits through more-advanced services, we are actively moving ahead 

with three core digital services—VOD, “HDR,” and high-definition (HD) programs.

In the year under review, the J:COM On Demand VOD service made steady progress. To pro-

mote usage, we offered previews for such movies as “The Witch of The West Is Dead,” from movie 

distributor Asmik Ace Entertainment, Inc. In addition, we began on-demand distribution of the 

Warner Bros. production movie “Speed Racer” on the same day as the movie’s DVD release. 

Furthermore, from December 2008, we began to offer NHK On Demand, which enables custom-

ers to view two types of NHK programs on demand. NHK Archive Selection offers selected pro-

grams broadcast in the past by NHK. The Catch-up Service, on the other hand, enables custom-

ers to view programs that they missed; these programs are available for one week* after they were 

originally broadcast on one of five different terrestrial and satellite NHK channels. 

In the year under review, we continued to enhance content. Consequently, the number of titles 

available through our VOD service had increased to �7,800 by the end of the fiscal year. We added 

6.75 million titles purchased during the year, an increase of �.4 million, or 26%, from the previous 

year. Revenue was up 28%, to ¥2.7 billion.

Due to its high convenience and its cost performance, “HDR” recorded favorable growth in the 

number of contracts. The total number of contracts at the end of the fiscal year was up �50,800, or 

59%, from a year earlier, to 404,800, and 20% of households subscribing to digital services had 

“HDR.” “HDR” made a contribution to growth in ARPU.

Also, in December 2008, we began to offer “HDR Plus,” a more advanced version of “HDR,” 

throughout our service areas. “HDR Plus” features a DVD drive that enables recording of HD pro-

grams, as well as a 500 GB hard disk drive, double the previous capacity. As a result, “HDR Plus” 

delivers about four times more HD recording capacity than our conventional “HDR” service. This 

enhancement was offered in response to requests from customers for higher recording capacity and 

the ability to record programs on DVD. Through the introduction of this new service, we are aiming 

to acquire new subscribers to our digital services and to further enhance customer satisfaction.

Moreover, we also offer a large number of HD programs that utilize high resolution and high 

sound quality. Currently, our cable digital broadcasting offers HD programs on five basic channels 

and two optional channels, and including all digital terrestrial and BS digital channels, about 25% 

of all of our channels are HD. In 2009, we plan to add �0 more HD channels available on cable digi-

tal broadcasting, making about 40% of our channels HD.

* Increased to �0 days from April 2009.

“HDR Plus”

Points

 Start of distribution of 
NHK On Demand

 Introduction of  
“HDR Plus”

NHK On Demand screen and logo
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Enhancing	Channel	Lineup

Through the September 2007 merger with Jupiter TV Co., Ltd., the J:COM group became Japan’s 

largest multiple channel operator (MCO), investing in and operating �6 premium channels and 

providing those channels through various distribution infrastructures, including cable television 

operators and satellite broadcasters.

Through the merger, we worked to improve program quality by making full use of the J:COM 

group’s management resources, including its funding capabilities and customer base as well as 

the customer feedback acquired through direct sales representatives and call centers. At the same 

time, by reevaluating and expanding the channel lineup, we worked to offer programs that custom-

ers want to watch. 

As one facet of these endeavors, we launched Channel Ginga in April 2008. We also added new 

basic channels, launching suspense theatre FOXCRIME, a suspense and mystery channel, in March 

2008, and SCI FI channel, a science fiction movie and drama channel, in April 2008. Both of these 

channels are broadcasting popular programs that have earned high viewership in the United States.

Furthermore, in August 2008 we began to distribute FOX HD, the latest and strongest American 

drama and entertainment channel, and in October 2008 we started to broadcast Discovery Chan-

nel Hi-Vision. In September 2008, we reorganized Channel Ginga’s programs. In these ways, we 

worked to further raise customer satisfaction and expand our customer base. In December 2008, 

we launched THE CINEMA channel, a movie specialized channel that focuses on Hollywood box 

office hits, topical movies, and unforgettable film classics.

As a result of these types of initiatives, as of the end of December 2008, the number of house-

holds that could view each of our �6 premium channels is outlined on the facing page.

Points

 Introduction of new 
channels
Channel Ginga
FOXCRIME
SCI FI
THE CINEMA

 HD channel reshuffle
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Future Strategy
Promotion	with	the	Digital	Project

There is only about two years until the complete changeover to digital terrestrial broadcasting in 

July 20��, and as we move forward, the transition to companywide digital broadcasting is an 

important challenge for J:COM. The series of changes that will accompany the full digitalization of 

terrestrial and BS broadcasting presents a unique opportunity for J:COM. To take advantage of 

this opportunity, we launched the Digital Project in October 2008. This project comprises the 

Digital �00 Project and the Communal Reception Facilities Project.

First, the Digital �00 Project is intended to raise the digital migration rate*, which was 8�% at the 

end of February 2009, to �00% by the middle of 20�0. As a result, we will work to further bolster 

the competitiveness of the J:COM group’s services by using 40% of the bandwidth allotted to 

analog multi-channel broadcasts, introducing additional HD channels, substantially expanding the 

number of VOD and HD titles, and enhancing VOD services. Targeting the achievement of �00% 

digitalization, by providing detailed explanations of the appeal and merits of digital services to 

customers subscribed to analog services, we will obtain deeper understanding of our digital 

services and thereby advance the switch to digital services.

Next, under the Communal Reception Facilities Project, we will advance sales activities for digital 

services to about � million households that currently use a shared antenna to watch terrestrial 

broadcasting in our service areas where TV reception is poor.

In the fiscal year ending December 2009, we will work to advance the Digital Project and spread 

digital terrestrial broadcasting while aiming to raise profits through an increase in J:COM TV Digital 

subscribers.

* Digital migration rate = Ratio of digital service subscribers to total cable television subscribers

Channel Name Movie Plus LaLa TV Golf Network Channel Ginga Discovery Channel

Number of  
households*1 7.54 million 5.93 million 6.61 million 2.43 million 6.59 million

Ownership % 100.0% (consolidated) 100% (consolidated) 89.4% (consolidated) 76.0% (consolidated) 50.0% (equity method)

Number of Households with Service Available by Channel

Channel Name Animal Planet J SPORTS*2 AXN Kids Station Nihon Eiga Senmon Channel
(Japan Movie Channel)

Number of  
households*1 5.11 million 3.65 million 6.08 million 7.73 million 5.63 million

Ownership % 33.3% (equity method) 33.4% (equity method) 35.0% (equity method) 15.0% (other) 9.99% (other)

*�.  As of the end of December 2008 

Source: Data from each channel

*2.  J SPORTS provides J sports ESPN, J sports �, J sports 2, 

and J sports Plus.

Channel Name
Jidaigeki Senmon Channel

(Samurai Drama Channel) Nikkei CNBC Anime Theater X

Number of  
households*1 6.36 million 7.10 million 0.1 million

Ownership % 9.99% (other) 9.75% (other) 12.28% (other)

Points

 Early achievement  
of 100% digital migra-
tion rate

 Provide basic service 
and acquire non-con-
necting retransmission 
households as pay 
subscribers within 
service area

 Upgrade connected 
terrestrial digital retrans-
mission households to 
pay subscribers
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Overview of Results
We offer a variety of competitive high-speed Internet access services, including a �60 Mbps 

service that is offered throughout nearly all of our service areas. To ensure high access speeds  

and service that is safe, secure, and appealing, we are providing robust security for free and 

working to raise customer satisfaction.

The diffusion of broadband in Japan’s Internet market continues to accelerate. As of September 

2008, the number of broadband contracts was 29.76 million, an increase of 2 million, or 7%, from  

a year earlier*�. Of these, the number of FTTH (fiber-to-the-home) contracts was up 3,250,000, or 

3�% year on year, to �3.76 million, and the number of Internet service contracts using cable televi-

sion network was up 270,000, or 7%, to 4.02 million. 

In this environment, the number of subscribing households to the high-speed Internet access 

services provided by the J:COM group rose 23% year on year, or 275,200 households, to �.49 

million households. This gain was attributable in part to an increase in the number of subscribing 

households stemming from the acquisition of other cable television operators and to the expansion 

to all existing systems that offer the J:COM NET Ultra �60 Mbps Internet access service.

Subscription fees from high-speed Internet access services rose �0%, or ¥6.9 billion, to ¥73.5 

billion, due to the increase in subscriber numbers, which offset a rise in discounts on basic monthly 

charges stemming from an increase in the bundle ratio. For existing consolidated subsidiaries, 

subscription fees from high-speed Internet access services were up 9%.

Point

 Roll out of J:COM NET 
Ultra 160 Mbps Internet 
access service to nearly 
all service areas*2

Subscribing	Households 1.49 million +23%

Subscription	Fees ¥73.5 billion +10%
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Progress	in	160	Mbps	Service	Exceeds	Initial	Plans

Our J:COM Net Ultra �60 Mbps super-high-speed Internet access service, which we launched in 

April 2007, had been extended to nearly all of our service areas by the end of July 2008.*2 Accom-

panying this progress, the number of subscribing households to the service favorably increased, 

reaching �07,700 at the end of the year under review, an increase of 90,200 from a year earlier. The 

success of the service has exceeded our initial plans.

In comparison with the services offered by telecommunications companies, J:COM NET Ultra 

�60 Mbps is very competitive, with access speeds that exceed the �00 Mbps of FTTH services, as 

well as enhanced security and reasonable subscription fees. J:COM NET Ultra �60 Mbps is ex-

pected to generate further growth in subscriber numbers in the years ahead. 

Future Strategy
Reinforcing	Service	Competitiveness

The migration to digital broadcasting is scheduled to be completed by the middle of 20�0, and  

by using a portion of the bandwidth allocated to analog multi-channel services, the J:COM group 

plans to offer even faster Internet access services. 

Also, as one aspect of the measures to increase customer satisfaction, we operate the J:COM 

NET Support Center, a customer service center specializing in Internet services. At this customer 

service center, to provide easy-to-understand explanations for less-experienced users and senior 

citizens, we introduced a remote support system that enables the representative to view the same 

screen as the customer.

Going forward, we will promote longer continuous subscriptions by improving customer satisfac-

tion and secure new subscribers.

*�. Source: Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications report (December 2008)

*2. Excluding new areas (Kyoto Cable Communications, Taito Cable Television, and the former Mediatti group)
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Overview of Results
With J:COM PHONE, we offer a primary IP telephony service that features quality equivalent to 

conventional standard telephony services, number portability*, and emergency calls.

In Japan’s fixed-line telephone market, there is an ongoing shift toward IP services, such as that 

using broadband, and away from conventional switch-based telephone subscriber lines provided 

by the NTT group.

In this environment, the number of subscribing households to the telephony services provided by 

the J:COM group rose 20% year on year, or 257,200 households, to �.57 million households at 

year-end. This success is attributable to J:COM PHONE’s high-quality service and reasonable 

basic charges and call charges, as well as to an increase in the number of subscribing households 

due to M&A transactions.

Subscription fees rose 9%, or ¥3.5 billion, to ¥43.9 billion, due to the substantial increase in 

subscriber numbers, which offset a rise in discounts on basic monthly charges stemming from an 

increase in bundling and a decline in call charges. Primary IP telephony service subscription fees 

from existing consolidated subsidiaries were up 9% year on year.

On the other hand, at J:COM MOBILE, in the year under review we introduced the installment 

purchase method for handset sales, which has become very popular, and substantially expanded 

the free call time for “Toku-Toku Talk MOBILE” to 500 minutes per month. Moreover, we expanded 

the handset lineup and worked to enhance the appeal of our service. As a result, the number of 

subscribing households at the end of the fiscal year was �5,400.

Future Strategy
Advancing	the	Introduction	of	Primary	IP	Telephony	Service

At J:COM, we plan to increase the ratio of primary IP telephony service, which makes it possible to 

reduce capital expenditures compared with conventional switch-based systems while also main-

taining a high level of service quality. We will gradually introduce J:COM’s primary IP telephony 

service at the subsidiaries that were newly consolidated in the year ended December 2008. In  

the year ending December 2009, we plan to introduce this service at about �0 systems including 

the Osaka Central System of the former Cable West group, where we began to provide the service 

in February.

* A framework for enabling subscribers to continue to use the same telephone number even if they change service providers.

Point

 Provision of reasonably 
priced, high-quality 
services

Subscribing	Households 1.57 million +20%

Subscription	Fees ¥43.9 billion +9%
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J:COM Earthquake Alert Service
In January 2008, the J:COM group launched an earthquake alert service. With this service, the 

data from seismometers near the epicenter is analyzed and the epicenter and intensity (magnitude) 

are rapidly estimated. Based on information from the Japan Meteorological Agency, the principal 

motion arrival time and intensity for each region are estimated. Because warnings are provided as 

rapidly as possible, the service is useful in implementing countermeasures and minimizing damage.

The J:COM earthquake alert service has the following features:

�.  Utilizes information for advanced users*� and provides prompt reporting through  

broadcast network

2. Accuracy resulting from the implementation of calculations at the household terminals*2

3. Round-the-clock notification via dedicated terminal

4. Simple notification broadcasts for other disasters from local governments.

From September 2008, we began to offer a broadcast facility connection service for local gov-

ernments, making possible simultaneous broadcasts not only to private residences but also to 

schools and public facilities.

Going forward, we will work to extend the availability of this service, extending it to such facilities 

as regional plants and condominium buildings, while continuing to expand the service as a “re-

gional safety and security platform.”

Advertising Media Business
With the objective of cultivating and bolstering a new source of revenues and profits, we have 

entered the advertising media business. This business draws on the customer base that the  

J:COM group has developed through existing businesses and on the J:COM group’s diverse 

media. We are developing cross media advertising operations using programs, VOD, and program 

guides, with the main target being J:COM TV subscribers.

J:COM	Channel

In addition to information useful in daily life, the J:COM Channel provides information closely linked 

to local communities, centered on regional history and nature shows and documentaries. This is 

provided at no charge not only to J:COM TV subscribers, but to other retransmitted households, 

about 7.4 million households in all.

Interactive	Media

Currently, there are about �.3 million J:COM TV subscribers that can utilize this new information 

medium, which leverages the two-way communication capabilities of digital services. In December 

2008, we redesigned the screen and enhanced usability, while at the same time adding functions 

that make it easier for customers to find the information that they want.

Other Initiatives

The InteracTV top screen was 
renewed in December 2008.

The J:COM group is also devoted to offering new value-added services.

Terminal  
manufactured  
by Broad Net 
Mux Corporation

Terminal manufactured by 
DX Antenna Co., Ltd.

Advertisement from Jupiter 
Visual Communications Co., Ltd. 
on J:COM On Demand.

*�.  Information about earthquakes for 

which the maximum intensity is above 

3 or the magnitude above 3.5 is 

provided by the Japan Meteorological 

Agency. General information used on 

TV and radio is only announced when 

maximum intensity is forecast to 

exceed slightly less than 5.

*2.  Latitude, longitude, and ground 

condition information are set for each 

household dedicated terminal.
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Corporate Governance / Compliance

J:COM believes that the fundamentals of corporate governance 

are predicated on improving management efficiency and main-

taining sound operations as well as on ensuring the transpar-

ency of management processes in order to achieve these goals. 

Accordingly, J:COM aims to maximize medium- and long-term 

corporate value for its shareholders, customers, and employees 

as well as for the local communities it serves by raising the 

quality of management through the creation of the management 

system that is best suited to J:COM and through ongoing, two-

way dialogue with shareholders and investors.

Corporate	Governance	Structure	(As of December 3�, 2008)

J:COM carries out management decision making and execution 

and oversees and audits its business operations through a 

corporate governance system centered on the Board of Direc-

tors and the Board of Statutory Auditors.

The Board of Directors has �3 members, including 2 outside 

directors. The board makes decisions regarding important 

business operations and other matters stipulated by law and 

oversees the business execution of J:COM and its subsidiaries. 

The term of service for directors is one year, and a management 

structure that can respond swiftly to changes in the business 

environment has been established.

Further, J:COM has established the Management Steering 

Committee, principally comprising of directors. The committee 

deliberates on important management issues including results 

at J:COM and subsidiaries; offers recommendations to the 

president and other directors on how to appropriately carry out 

their duties, including advice on convening extraordinary board 

meetings; and contributes to swift and appropriate decision 

making at J:COM.

On April �, 2008, J:COM introduced a corporate officer 

system. This system, in which managing directors and other 

people in specific executive positions are identified as corporate 

officers, is aimed at further strengthening corporate governance. 

The Board of Statutory Auditors has 4 members, including 2 

external auditors, � of which is a full-time auditor. The statutory 

auditors review all aspects of business operations, including  

J:COM policy, planning, procedural validity, business effective-

ness, and compliance with laws and regulations. The statutory 

auditors also attend meetings of the Board of Directors and 

other important meetings, inspect critical corporate documents, 

conduct examination-based audits of subsidiaries, and make 

reports to the Board of Statutory Auditors. Moreover, as need-

ed, the statutory auditors receive reports and explanations 

regarding auditing from the independent auditor, and examine 

financial account statements and annexed specification.

Relationship	with	Parent	Company

LGI/Sumisho Super Media, LLC (“Super Media”) is J:COM’s 

direct parent company, holding 58.�4% of the voting rights. 

Super Media, a joint holding company established by Liberty 

Global, Inc. (listed on the NASDAQ in the United States) and 

Sumitomo Corporation, is owned 58.66% by Liberty Global and 

4�.34% by Sumitomo Corporation. Liberty Global holds the 

right to make decisions upon matters that are decided upon by 

the joint committee managing Super Media (one member 

selected from both shareholders) but which cannot be agreed 

upon by the shareholding companies. Accordingly, as of the 

end of December 2008, Liberty Global effectively holds �00% 

of the voting rights of Super Media. In addition, Liberty Global 

holds 3.70% of the voting rights of J:COM through Liberty 

Global Japan II LLC.

Sumitomo Corporation indirectly holds 24.04% of the voting 

rights of J:COM through Super Media, and in addition Sumi-

tomo Corporation directly holds 3.70% of J:COM’s voting rights. 

Sumitomo Corporation subsequently treats J:COM as an 

equity-method affiliate investee.

Other than those relationships mentioned above, there are no 

other relationships of special note between J:COM and Super 

Media, between J:COM and Liberty Global, or between J:COM 

and Sumitomo Corporation.

*  The above voting rights percentages are calculated after excluding J:COM’s treasury 

stock.

Internal	Audit	System

We established the Internal Auditing Department under the 

direct supervision of the president to function as an internal 

auditing unit for all group divisions and group companies. The 

department has approximately �0 members. In principle, these 

members audit every internal division and group company once 

every two years in accordance with auditing plans. The audit 

results are submitted to the president in an audit report, and 

audited divisions and companies are periodically checked 

against the corrective action points in the audit reports to 

assess their degree of improvement.

The Internal Auditing Department and the Board of Statutory 

Auditors are independent of each other; however, to enable 

internal audit results to be used in the course of audits conduct-

ed by the Board of Statutory Auditors, the Internal Auditing 

Department reports to the standing statutory auditor. The two 

parties also work together closely on other matters as well.

Internal	Control	Committee

As a consolidated subsidiary of Liberty Global which is listed on 

the NASDAQ Stock Exchange in the United States, J:COM has 

been in compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) Act since 

Corporate Governance
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2006. To implement this compliance, we established the Inter-

nal Control Committee, which is led by J:COM’s CFO and 

reports directly to the president, and the Internal Control De-

partment, which works under the Internal Control Committee 

and also reports directly to the president while handling detailed 

compliance planning and execution. We are working to bolster 

and enhance our internal control system, centered on SOX 

compliance. For J:COM, fiscal 2008 is the third year of SOX 

compliance, and, as in the past two years, internal audits were 

conducted of the control scheme. These internal audits affirmed 

that our internal control structure for financial reporting did not 

contain any significant defects that could lead to fraudulent 

financial reporting. From fiscal 2009, J:COM will also be re-

quired to be in compliance with the Financial Instruments and 

Exchange Law of Japan, which will make the submission of an 

“Internal Control Report” compulsory, when it comes into force 

in fiscal 2009.

Compliance
Compliance	Structure

J:COM has established the Compliance Committee, which is 

chaired by the Senior Corporate Officer, General Manager, 

Administration Division, with the objectives of strengthening and 

promoting a companywide structure for compliance. The 

committee publishes and distributes a compliance manual to  

all J:COM group companies and takes steps to increase the 

compliance-related awareness of all employees, such as 

through compliance training.

Furthermore, we have instituted the “Speak Up System” at all 

group companies as a safeguard against situations in which, for 

whatever reason, it may be difficult for employees to report or 

deal with compliance problems under the normal chain of 

command. These initiatives provide an avenue for employees  

to speak up about compliance issues through direct consulta-

tion with either the Compliance Committee or an outside lawyer. 

In May 2006, the standing statutory auditor was added as a 

contact person.

We hope the presence of this kind of system within J:COM will 

act as a further deterrent against illegal and fraudulent acts.

Information	Management	and	Risk	Management	Structure

In order to strengthen and promote information security initia-

tives at J:COM, meetings of the Information Security Commit-

tee, which is chaired by the Senior Corporate Officer, General 

Manager, Administration Division, are periodically convened. At 

these meetings, the committee reviews and verifies the security 

and administrative procedures used in our information asset 

management system. The committee’s findings are then dis-

seminated throughout the entire company.

Of the 45 group companies (as of the end of January 2009), 

35 companies had been granted the Japan Information Pro-

cessing Development Corporation (JIPDEC) Privacy Mark, 

which certifies that a company’s procedures for handling 

personal information protection are appropriate. Going forward, 

we will keep working to further bolster our information security 

management and to achieve our goal of obtaining the Privacy 

Mark at all group companies.

Moreover, for a risk management structure, targeting a stable 

supply of broadcasting and communications services, the  

J:COM group has established a system to implement 24-hour 

monitoring of the networks of each 

group company to enable quick 

responses to problems.

Diagram	of	Our	Corporate	Governance	Structure	(As of December 3�, 2008)
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The	J:COM	group	strives	to	provide	safe,	secure	services	to	our	customers	in	order	to	become	a	trustworthy	

company	in	the	local	communities.	Accordingly,	we	believe	that	it	is	essential	to	actively	fulfill	our	social	responsi-

bilities,	including	the	strict	observance	of	laws	and	regulations.

Our Contributions to Local Communities

The Iki-Iki Project
J:COM launched the Iki-iki Project—a project that encourages people to live healthy, lively  

lives within their local community—in May 2006. The Iki-iki Project offers opportunities to 

subscribers and local residents to make the most of their skills and knowledge, learn some-

thing new, and build a community support network. In order to implement this project, the  

J:COM group offers its recourses, such as meeting rooms in its local offices, to subscribers 

and local residents. Activities offered under this project include educational lectures, art and 

culture classes, and excursions within the community.

Safety, Security, and Environment Initiatives
The J:COM group works to provide safety and security to everyone in local communities. 

Accordingly, in addition to working to maintain communications quality, we are implementing 

initiatives in a wide range of areas, such as the management of subscribers’ personal identity 

information and the reuse of resources.

	 Equipment	Recycling
To promote the effective use of resources, the various types of equipment used by the J:COM group 

are recycled when they reach the end of their useful lives. After home terminals, modems, and other 

equipment are collected from subscribers and disassembled at plants, materials such as metals and 

plastic are recycled to be reused as resources.

	 Christmas	and	New	Year’s	E-cards
To promote environmental conservation, the J:COM group has replaced paper-based Christmas cards 

and New Year’s cards with digital e-cards, which do not consume paper resources or require postage. 

In 2008, the use of these e-cards resulted in resource savings equivalent to about �2,000 Christmas 

and New Year’s cards. Part of the postage saved was donated to the National Land Afforestation 

Promotion Organization (the Green Fund), which promotes the National Land Afforestation Campaign, 

an environmental conservation campaign.

	 Broadcasting	and	Communications	Quality	Maintenance
In preparation for any natural disasters or major emergency incidents, the System Management Centers 

(SMCs) in Kanto, Kansai, and Kyushu monitor the networks of J:COM group companies 24 hours a day, 

365 days a year. In addition, uninterruptible power supply (UPS) equipment has been installed. In these 

ways, we have taken steps to support the stable supply of broadcasting / communications services.

	 Protecting	Personal	Information
The J:COM group is promoting the acquisition of the Privacy Mark accreditation on a groupwide basis. 

To meet our responsibilities as a company that is entrusted by customers with important personal 

identity information, we are working to ensure rigorous personal information protection management by 

all employees and to strengthen information security management, including bolstering personal 

identity information management.

In addition, applications received from subscribers are sealed in front of the customer, and we then 

have the subscribers stamp their personal seal over the edge of the envelope flap. The J:COM group 

also takes steps to prevent the loss of briefcases with subscribers’ personal identity information inside 

by having sales representatives use shoulder straps and safety cords, and their cell phone memories 

are protected with passwords. We are completely committed to protecting our subscribers’ personal 

identity information. New Year’s e-card

Home terminals (top left) are individually 
disassembled (bottom) and sorted by 
material, before being reborn as plastic 
and other resources (top right, image).

Iki-Iki Project
Chorus circle (top left), golf competition 
(top right), walking event (bottom)

Christmas e-card
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Supporting Welfare, Health, and a Friendly Society
The J:COM group is implementing a range of initiatives that help everyone in local 

communities to live secure, energetic, and enjoyable lives each day.

	 J:COM	NET	Heartful Pack	Program
The J:COM group offers the J:COM NET Heartful Pack high-speed Internet access program to 

support the independence and participation in society of people with disabilities. This program 

offers them the J:COM NET 30 Mbps course and J:COM NET Ultra �60 Mbps course at 

discounted prices.

	 Donations	On	Demand	Program
Since December 2006, the J:COM group has offered the Donations On Demand program, 

which can be accessed through the J:COM On Demand Menu. This program enables dona-

tions to be made to UNICEF via J:COM with the digital remote control. When subscribers 

purchase and watch a short program, its sales are donated to UNICEF. Also, in the event of 

major earthquakes or other disasters, we collect donations through Donations on Demand or 

at J:COM shops to support the recovery of the affected communities.

Support for Art, Culture, and Education
The J:COM group supports development of the arts, culture, and education for every-

one from children to adults. We offer students of local elementary and junior high 

schools the opportunity to enjoy social studies field trips as well as to participate in 

work experience, and we also support the development of sports teams and arts 

groups in each community.

	 Sponsorship	of	Personal	Computer	Classrooms
J:COM offers PC training classes at its facilities with the objective of supporting people who 

want to acquire knowledge about personal computers.

	 Support	for	Sports
Franchises and systems in the J:COM group support local sports teams. Sports games and 

programs for supporters can be viewed on the community channel called “J:COM Channel.”

Support for Local Area Advancement
As a company with close ties to local communities, the J:COM group supports the 

creation of safe, secure communities and rich environments.

	 Cleanup	and	Beautification	Activities
The J:COM group is actively involved in regional cleanup and beautification activities. In May 

2008, all the companies and systems in the J:COM group hosted the CLEAN UP OUR TOWN 

event. A total of �0,000 people from the local communities and employees collected approxi-

mately �,500 kilograms of garbage.

	 Anticrime	Activities
As the J:COM group’s employees (in charge of sales and installation activities) work in local 

communities, and we take steps to ensure that each one of them is aware of the importance of 

crime prevention in addition to their operational duties. When sales representatives and installa-

tion engineers drive around the service area, signs that show “neighborhood patrol in force” are 

posted on their vehicles. We are working in cooperation with local police and crime prevention 

associations with the objective of contributing to the prevention of crime.

Work experience as a nurse 
around J:COM facilities

Donations On Demand screen

PC training for subscribers in the region

Support for local soccer team

Cleaning activities in the areas 
around J:COM facilities

Anticrime patrol
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The following should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and associated notes. 

Overview

We are currently the largest centrally managed multiple system 

operator (MSO) of cable television, high-speed Internet access and 

telephony services in Japan as measured by total customers, with 

approximately 3.17 million customers as of December 31, 2008. We 

offer our services through 25 consolidated and managed system 

operator franchises. In addition to our franchises, we also have 

controlling interests in two Internet service providers, @NetHome 

and Kansai Multimedia Service (KMS); J:COM Technology (TEC:J), 

a provider of installation, construction and maintenance services 

for cable television franchises; and J:COM Finance and TM Lease, 

which are responsible for managing the financing of the J:COM 

Group. We also invest in and operate subsidiaries, which provide 

services to cable television, satellite, and broadband operators. We 

also hold non-controlling equity investments between 20% to 50% in 

other broadband-related entities, and refer to these as our non-

managed investments. The following table summarizes our total 

group and total managed franchises.

As of December 31, 2007 2008

Consolidated Subsidiaries*:
 System operators 20 25
 Channel operators 5 6
 Others 7 5
   Total 32 36

Equity-Method Affiliates:
 System operators 2 0
 Channel operators 4 4
 Others 5 5
   Total 11 9

Total Group 43 45
Total Managed Franchises 22 25

* Including Mediatti Communications, MSO

 Twenty-two of our managed system operators and a MSO are 

clustered around three metropolitan areas of Japan, consisting of 

the Kanto region (which includes Tokyo), the Kansai region (which 

includes Osaka, Kobe and Kyoto) and the Kyushu region (which 

includes Fukuoka and Kita-Kyushu). In addition, we own and man-

age the other two managed system operator franchises in the 

Sapporo and Sendai areas of Japan that are not part of a cluster.

 Each franchise consists of headend facilities receiving television 

programming from satellites, traditional terrestrial television broad-

casters and other sources, and a distribution network composed of 

a combination of fiber-optic and coaxial cables, which transmits 

signals between the headend facility and the customer locations. 

Almost all of our cable networks are upgraded to two-way transmis-

sion capability, with all homes passed served by a system with a 

bandwidth of at least 750 MHz. We provide these franchises with 

experienced personnel, operating and administrative services, sales 

and marketing, training, programming and equipment procurement 

assistance and other management services. Our franchises (except 

Mediatti and its system operators, which became subsidiaries in 

December 2008) use our centralized customer management system 

to support sales, customer and technical services, customer call 

centers and billing and collection services.

 The cable television industry in Japan historically has been 

characterized by a large number of small operators, many of which 

began as joint ventures between multiple parties such as local 

companies, local governments, and major trading and media 

companies. A major part of our business strategy has been to 

acquire interests in complementary franchises so that we can enjoy 

the economies of scale of a large MSO. In many cases, we have 

increased our ownership over time, initially acquiring only a non-

controlling interest and later increasing our investment to create a 

consolidated subsidiary. Where possible, we have merged subsid-

iaries to achieve further economies of scale.

 Profit Structure—Revenue

Subscription Fees

Our subscription fees consist of subscription fees from our cable 

television, high-speed Internet access and telephony services. 

Subscription fees for our analog and digital cable television services 

include basic monthly subscription fees and additional fees for 

premium channels, other premium services and transaction-type 

services such as pay-per-view and video-on-demand. Subscription 

fees related to our high-speed Internet access service consist of 

monthly subscription fees and additional fees for available Internet 

options. Subscription fees also include revenue of our subsidiaries 

@ NetHome and KMS for high-speed Internet access services 

provided to our previously unconsolidated managed franchise and 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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to third-party cable operators. Our telephony subscription fees 

consist of monthly line rental fees and additional per minute charges 

based on subscriber call volume, premium services such as call 

waiting and caller ID, and call access charge revenue that we receive 

from other carriers for interconnecting their calls to our customers. 

For customers who subscribe to more than one of our network 

services, we charge a bundled service rate that is less than the 

aggregate price for individual network services.

 We have continued to focus on increasing the number of our total 

customers and the number of service offerings to which each of our 

customers subscribe. We refer to each product unit that a customer 

subscribes to as a revenue generating unit (RGU). Our subscription 

fees are influenced principally by the pace of our customer growth, 

which reflects the addition of new customers offset by the number of 

customers that disconnect one or more of our services. We refer to 

the pace of customer disconnects as “churn.” 

 Our strategy is based on a Volume plus Value concept, as we 

intend to offer more features and benefits in each service standard 

package, which we believe differentiates us from our competitors as 

a true bundled service provider.  

Cable Television. We believe that our basic service offering pro-

vides the most attractive programming within each genre at a price 

that is competitive with other providers of video content. The pace of 

cable television subscriber acquisition and churn rates are influenced 

by the value that prospective and current subscribers attribute to our 

services compared to services offered by our competitors. We offer 

analog and digital cable services in all of our managed franchises. 

Our analog television service consists of approximately 45 channels 

of cable programming and analog terrestrial broadcasting and 

broadcast satellite channels, not including premium services. A 

typical channel lineup includes popular channels in the Japanese 

market such as Movie Plus, a top foreign movie channel; LaLa TV, a 

women’s entertainment channel; J sports 1, J sports 2 and J sports 

ESPN, three popular sports channels; the Discovery Channel; the 

Golf Network; the Disney Channel; and Animal Planet; in addition to 

retransmission of analog terrestrial and satellite television broad-

casts. At December 31, 2008, our digital television service included 

approximately 66 channels of cable programming, digital terrestrial 

broadcasting, and broadcast satellite channels, not including audio 

and data channels and premium services. We provide our digital 

cable subscribers video-on-demand, pay-per-view functionality and 

a digital video recording service, which utilizes digital set-top boxes 

equipped with an internal hard disk drive capable of recording up to 

20 hours of digital HD programming and the ability to record two 

programs in competing time slots, allowing those subscribers, 

generally for an additional fee, to receive programming that is not 

available to our analog cable subscribers. On December 17, 2008, 

we started offering a new “HDR Plus” service across all service areas 

that features an enhanced DVD drive with digital high-definition 

recording capability as well as an expanded 500 GB hard disk. We 

also offer both analog and digital subscribers optional subscriptions 

for an additional fee to premium channels, including movies, sports, 

horse racing and other special entertainment programming, either 

individually or in packages. We offer package discounts to custom-

ers who subscribe to bundles of our services. Our customers’ ability 

to receive all video platforms, terrestrial digital, BS digital, CS chan-

nels, video-on-demand and pay-per-view, through one set-top box 

offers a value proposition not offered by our competitors. In addition 

to the services offered to our cable television subscribers, we also 

provide terrestrial broadcast retransmission services to more than 

five million additional households (excluding 2008 acquisitions) in 

our consolidated franchise areas as of December 31, 2008, includ-

ing “compensation” households for which we receive up-front 

fees pursuant to long-term contracts to provide such retransmis-

sion services.

High-speed Internet access. The market for high-speed Internet 

access services remains highly competitive and more price-sensitive 

than for video services. Consequently, our subscriber acquisition 

and churn rates for high-speed Internet access services are influ-

enced significantly by the price point for our service as compared to 

competing service offerings. We currently offer five tiers of broad-

band Internet access services in all of our managed franchises 

through @NetHome and KMS. These broadband Internet access 

services offer downstream speeds ranging from 256 Kbps to an 

ultra-high-speed of up to 160 Mbps. 

Telephony. Similar to the market for high-speed Internet services, 

the market for telephony services is highly competitive and price-

sensitive, both for basic monthly line rental fees and per-minute call 

volume charges. Consequently, our subscriber acquisition and 

service disconnect rates for telephony services are influenced 

significantly by the price point for our service as compared to com-

peting service offerings. We offer telephony services over our 

network in all of our consolidated franchise areas. Our headend 

facilities contain equipment that routes calls from the local network 

to telephony switches (a majority of which we own), which in turn 

transmit voice signals and other information over the network. We 

also utilize VoIP technology in certain franchise areas. We provide a 

single line to the majority of our telephony customers, most of whom 

are residential customers. We charge our telephony subscribers a 

fee for basic telephony service (together with charges for calls made) 
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and offer additional premium services, including call waiting,  

 call forwarding, caller identification and three-way calling, for a fee. 

In partnership with WILLCOM, Inc, a personal handphone system 

service provider in Japan, we offer a mobile phone service called  

J:COM MOBILE. J:COM MOBILE customers receive discounted 

mobile phone service when bundled with our other telephone 

service, including free and discounted calling plans.

Bundled Services. The pace of growth of RGUs is also directly 

influenced by the value that customers receive for subscribing for 

multiple services as compared to the subscription fees charged to 

obtain comparative services from multiple providers. Once a cus-

tomer is connected to our network, we can efficiently expand our 

service offerings to these customers and consequently are able to 

offer the additional services at highly competitive prices and at 

potentially lower customer acquisition costs than providing new 

customers with the same service.

Other Revenue

Our other revenue is comprised primarily of revenue from channel 

services as follows:

Channel Services. We source our programming through multiple 

suppliers, including the former Jupiter TV Co., Ltd. We acquired 

the former Jupiter TV Co., Ltd. on September 1, 2007. The former 

Jupiter TV Co., Ltd. invests in, develops, manages and distributes 

fee-based television programming as Jupiter TV Company, a division 

of the Company. The former Jupiter TV Co., Ltd. acquisition enabled 

us to bring key programming genres to the Japanese market and to 

promote the development of quality programming services. Through 

six subsidiaries and four affiliates, we develop, manage and distrib-

ute pay television services in Japan on a platform-neutral basis 

through various distribution infrastructures, principally cable and 

satellite service providers, and more recently, alternative broadband 

service providers using fiber-to-the-home (FTTH) and ADSL plat-

forms. Our six channel operator subsidiaries manage a movie 

channel (Movie Plus), a golf channel (Golf Network), a women’s 

entertainment channel (LaLa TV ), an entertainment channel (Act on 

TV), and a new channel which launched in April 2008 (Channel 

Ginga). Our four affiliates are J SPORTS Broadcasting Corporation, 

which owns four sports channels; Animal Planet Japan Co., Ltd., 

Discovery Japan, Inc.; and AXN Japan, Inc. We provide affiliates 

with sales services and in some cases advertising sales and oth-

er services to channels in which it has an investment for a fee.

 The market for multi-channel television services in Japan is 

highly complex with multiple cable systems, satellite platforms and 

alternative broadband service providers. Cable systems in Japan 

served approximately 21.65 million homes at December 31, 2008. A 

large percentage of these homes, however, are served by systems 

whose service principally consists of retransmitting free television 

services to homes whose reception of such broadcast signals has 

been blocked. Higher capacity systems and larger cable systems 

that offer a full complement of cable and broadcast channels, of 

which we are the largest in terms of subscribers, served 6.6 million 

households as of December 31, 2008. 

 The majority of channels in which we hold an interest are mar-

keted to cable system operators as basic television services, with 

distribution at December 31, 2008, ranging from 7.5 million homes 

for Movie Plus to 6.6 million homes for more recently launched 

channels, such as Discovery HD.

 Each of the channels in which we have an interest is also offered 

by Sky Perfect JSAT, which provides its customers these channels 

on the “SKY PerfecTV!” digital satellite platform.

 Distribution of multi-channel television services in Japan, through 

alternative broadband platforms, such as FTTH and ADSL, is not yet 

widespread. The majority of channels in which we hold an interest 

are marketed to alternative broadband subscribers.

Our other revenue is also comprised of:

• installation charges for new customers; 

•  fees paid to us by the owners of buildings that block terrestrial 

broadcast television signals for the construction and maintenance 

of networks to provide for the retransmission of these signals to 

households that would otherwise be unable to receive them;

•  commissions and fees received from affiliated and non-affiliated 

content providers;

•  sales of construction and installation related materials and labor, 

principally to our unconsolidated managed franchises;

•  sales of programming, principally to our unconsolidated managed 

franchises;

•  advertising revenue that we receive in connection with our cable 

television and high-speed Internet access services; and

•  management fees that we charge to our unconsolidated managed 

franchises.

 Costs and Expenses

Operating and Programming Costs

Operating and programming costs include costs related to the 

operation, maintenance and technical support of our network and 

the costs to acquire programs and other content that we provide 

to customers and that we sell to our unconsolidated franchises. 

Operating and programming costs also include amounts that we 
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are charged by other telecommunications carriers related to 

 interconnection charges to their network for our customers’ calls 

and the operating expenses of our @NetHome and KMS subsidiar-

ies associated with our high-speed Internet access services. 

Operating and programming costs also include the costs of labor 

and materials sold to third parties and our unconsolidated managed 

franchises associated with construction-related sales. Operating and 

programming costs are impacted primarily by the pace of subscriber 

growth in each of our service offerings, and additionally by the 

volume of usage by our telephony service subscribers.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Our selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of 

wages, salaries and benefits paid to our in-house and contract 

employees and our sales and marketing personnel. Selling, general 

and administrative expenses also include promotion and commis-

sion expenses incurred in connection with the acquisition of new 

customers as well as our general operating overhead costs and 

expenses. 

Depreciation and Amortization

Our depreciation and amortization expense is principally comprised 

of depreciation of our investment in our network. We expect our 

depreciation expense to increase in future periods as a result of 

network assets to be acquired through potential acquisitions of addi-

tional franchises, and capital investment for the integration, upgrade 

and expansion of the network of franchises that we may acquire.

Income Taxes

Each of the companies within our consolidated group is individually 

subject to Japanese national corporate tax, an inhabitant tax and a 

deductible enterprise tax on income, which in aggregate currently 

results in a maximum statutory income tax rate of approximately 

41% for each company. Since 1995, many of the companies within 

our consolidated group have incurred operating losses for Japanese 

income tax purposes. We do not currently qualify for filing a consoli-

dated tax return. As a result, certain portions of our consolidated 

group’s net operating loss carryforwards may not be realizable as 

such loss carryforwards can only be used to offset taxable income 

in future periods of those members of our consolidated group that 

generated the net operating loss. The maximum period for net 

operating loss carryforwards for Japanese corporations was ex-

tended from five to seven years for tax losses incurred in fiscal years 

starting on or after April 1, 2001. Generally, the reduction of valuation 

allowance results in a deferred tax benefit in the year recognized. 

However, certain of our deferred tax assets were acquired in con-

nection with past business combinations, and when we recognize 

these deferred tax assets through reductions to our valuation 

allowances or when we realize them through the application of net 

operating loss carryforwards as a reduction of current tax expense, 

we will first be required to reduce goodwill and other intangibles, 

with any remaining amount reflected as a deferred tax benefit. As a 

result of not having consolidated group tax returns, our consolidated 

effective tax rate will vary from period to period based upon the 

amount of taxable income generated by the individual members of 

our consolidated group and changes in the individual members’ 

deferred taxes, including their available net operating loss 

 carryforwards. 

 Other Operating Data

Franchise Revenue per Customer

One of the measures that we use to monitor our operations is 

franchise revenue per customer. Franchise revenue per customer 

is determined for any period as total revenue of our franchises, 

excluding revenue attributable to fees earned in connection with 

the installation of new customers, fees paid to us by building owners 

related to terrestrial blockage, and certain other revenue, divided 

by the weighted-average number of connected customers during 

the period.

Churn Rate

Another measure that we use to monitor our operations is the rate at 

which subscribers disconnect from each of our three services. With 

respect to any service, we calculate the average monthly churn rate 

by dividing the number of disconnects from the service during a 

period by the monthly weighted-average number of subscribers 

during the same period, and then dividing by the number of months 

in that period. The churn rate for each service can be influenced by 

many factors. For example, the churn rate we experience from 

subscribers in rental MDUs is typically higher than that of subscrib-

ers in condominiums or single-dwelling units. Also, we typically 

experience seasonally high churn in the early part of the year as a 

result of the high number of Japanese company personnel reloca-

tions, which usually takes place during March of each year. In 

addition, the churn rate experienced for each service is typically 

lower in homes subscribing to more than one service as a result of 

the bundled price offered for multiple service subscriptions and the 

increased loyalty of those customers.
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Results of Operations

Twelve months ended December 31, 2007 compared to twelve months ended December 31, 2008 

 Overview

The following table sets forth the percentages of revenue that individual items in our consolidated statement of income constituted for the 

periods presented, period-over-period changes and additional operating information for our consolidated franchises:

 Yen in millions

 Twelve  Twelve    
 months ended  months	ended    
 December 31, As a % December	31, As a %   
 2007 of revenue 2008 of revenue ¥ Change % Change

Revenue:
 Subscription fees ¥230,061 87% ¥	251,849	 86% ¥21,788 10%
 Other 34,447 13% 42,459	 14% 8,012 23%
 264,508 100% 294,308	 100% 29,800 11%
Operating costs and expenses:
 Operating and programming costs,  
  including stock-based compensation of  
  ¥35 million in 2007 and  
  ¥7 million in 2008, respectively (104,748) (40%) (112,099)	 (38%) (7,351) (7%)
 Selling, general and administrative expenses,   
  including stock-based compensation of  
  ¥105 million in 2007 and  
  ¥48 million in 2008, respectively (52,722) (20%) (59,514)	 (20%) (6,792) (13%)
 Depreciation and amortization (64,222) (24%) (69,020)	 (24%) (4,798) (8%)
 (221,692) (84%) (240,633)	 (82%) (18,941) (9%)
Operating income 42,816 16% 53,675	 18% 10,859 25%

Interest expense, net (4,276) (1%) (4,719)	 (1%) (443) (10%)
Equity in earnings of affiliates 291 * 600	 * 309 106%
Other income, net 558 * 177	 * (381) (68%)
Income before minority interest and income taxes 39,389 15% 49,733	 17% 10,344 26%
Minority interest in net income of  
 consolidated subsidiaries (1,883) (1%) (2,293)	 (1%) (410) (22%)
Income before income taxes 37,506 14% 47,440	 16% 9,934 27%
Income tax expense (13,514) (5%) (19,476)	 (6%) (5,962) 44%
Net income ¥23,992 9% ¥27,964	 10% ¥3,972 17%

Operating	Data:

As of December 31,   2007 2008 Change % Change

Number of homes passed:
Homes passed:
 Cable television   9,438,200 12,241,500 2,803,300 30%
 High-speed Internet   9,438,200 12,241,500 2,803,300 30%
 Telephone   9,415,300 11,393,200 1,977,900 21%

Subscribers:
 Cable television   2,188,000 2,557,000 369,000 17%
 High-speed Internet   1,211,600 1,486,800 275,200 23%
 Telephone   1,312,600 1,569,800 257,200 20%
Total RGUs   4,712,200 5,613,600 901,400 19%

Number of digital cable television subscribers   1,470,200 1,997,000 526,800 36%

RGU connects   925,248 954,300 29,052   3%
Customers connected   2,659,100 3,167,400 508,300 19%
Average RGU per customer    1.77  1.77  0.00 *
Average franchise revenue per customer per month (1)   ¥7,687 ¥7,789 ¥102 1%
 *  Less than 1.0% of total revenue or percentage change not considered meaningful. 
(1)  ARPU per customer connected is calculated as follows: Average total revenue of our consolidated franchises (excluding installation, poor reception, 

and construction) for the period divided by the weighted-average number of connected customers during the period.  
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 In the following discussion, we quantify the impact of acquisitions 

on our results of operations. The acquisition impact represents our 

estimate of the difference between the operating results of the 

periods under comparison that is attributable to the timing of an 

acquisition. In general, we base our estimate of the acquisition 

impact on an acquired entity’s operating results during the first three 

months following the acquisition date such that changes from those 

operating results in subsequent periods are considered to be 

organic changes. Included as acquisition impacts in the below 

discussion are the July 2007 acquisition of JUPITER VISUAL 

COMMUNICATIONS CO., LTD., the September 2007 merger with 

Jupiter TV Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (former Jupiter TV Co., Ltd.), 

the January 2008 acquisition of Kyoto Cable Communications Co. 

Ltd., the February 2008 acquisition of Kobe City Development & 

Management Foundation, the August 2008 acquisition of Fukuoka 

Cable Network Co., Ltd., and the December 2008 acquisition of 

Jyohoku New Media Co., Ltd. (Taito Cable TV). There is no impact 

in the consolidated statements of income related to the December 

25, 2008 acquisition of Mediatti Communications, Inc. (Mediatti).  

 Revenue

Total revenue increased by ¥29,800 million, or 11%, from ¥264,508 

million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 to ¥294,308 

million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008. This 

increase includes ¥11,761 million that is attributable to the aggregate 

impact of acquisitions. Excluding the effects of these acquisitions, 

total revenue increased by ¥18,039 million, or 7%. 

 Subscription fees increased by ¥21,788 million, or 10%, from 

¥230,061 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 to 

¥251,849 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008. 

This increase includes ¥5,305 million that is attributable to the 

aggregate impact of acquisitions. Excluding the impact of acquisi-

tions, subscription fees increased by ¥16,483 million, or 7%. 

 Cable television subscription fees increased by ¥11,354 million, or 

9%, from ¥123,071 million for the twelve months ended December 

31, 2007 to ¥134,425 million for the twelve months ended December 

31, 2008. The increase in cable television subscription revenue 

includes a 6% organic increase in subscription fees that is attribut-

able to an increase in the average number of digital cable subscrib-

ers, for which we charge a higher fee compared to our analog cable 

service, and the associated increase in ARPU. As of December 31, 

2008, 78% of cable television subscribers were receiving our digital 

service, compared to 67% as of December 31, 2007.

 High-speed Internet access service subscription fees increased 

by ¥6,921 million, or 10%, from ¥66,558 million for the twelve 

months ended December 31, 2007 to ¥73,479 million for the twelve 

months ended December 31, 2008. The increase in high-speed 

Internet access service subscription fees includes a 9% organic 

increase in subscription fees that is attributable to the net effect of 

(i) an increase in the average number of high-speed Internet access 

service subscribers and (ii) a lower ARPU due to product bundling 

discounts.

 Telephony subscription fees increased by ¥3,513 million, or 9%, 

from ¥40,432 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 

2007 to ¥43,945 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 

2008. The increase in telephony subscription fees is attributable to 

the net effect of (i) an increase in the average number of telephony 

subscribers and (ii) a lower ARPU due to a decrease in call volumes.

 Other revenue increased by ¥8,012 million, or 23%, from ¥34,447 

million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 to ¥42,459 

million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008. This 

increase includes ¥6,456 million that is attributable to the aggregate 

impact of acquisitions. The acquisition impact is mainly attributable 

to the merger with the former Jupiter TV Co., Ltd.

 Operating Costs and Expenses

Operating and programming costs increased by ¥7,351 million, or 

7%, from ¥104,748 million for the twelve months ended December 

31, 2007 to ¥112,099 million for the twelve months ended December 

31, 2008. This increase includes ¥3,799 million that is attributable to 

the aggregate impact of acquisitions. The remaining increase is due 

primarily to costs directly related to growth of our subscriber base.

 Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by ¥6,792 

million, or 13%, from ¥52,722 million for the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2007 to ¥59,514 million for the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2008. This increase includes ¥4,248 million that is 

attributable to the aggregate impact of acquisitions. The remaining 

increase is primarily attributable to increases in personnel costs. 

 Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by ¥4,798 

million, or 8%, from ¥64,222 million for the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2007 to ¥69,020 million for the twelve months ended 

December 31, 2008. This increase is attributable to the aggregate 

impact of acquisitions and additions to fixed assets related to the 

installation of services to new customers.

 Operating income, as a result of the above items, increased by 

¥10,859 million, or 25% from ¥42,816 million for the twelve months 

ended December 31, 2007 to ¥53,675 million for the twelve months 

ended December 31, 2008.

 Interest expense, net increased by ¥443 million, or 10%, from 

¥4,276 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 to 

¥4,719 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008.

 Income before income taxes increased by ¥9,934 million, or 27%, 

from ¥37,506 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 

2007 to ¥47,440 million for the twelve months ended December 

31, 2008.

 Net income increased by ¥3,972 million, or 17%, from ¥23,992 

million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 to ¥27,964 

million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008 for the 

reasons set forth above.
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 Operating Data

Average Franchise Revenue per Customer per Month

Total customers connected increased by 508,300, or 19%, from 

2,659,100 as of December 31, 2007 to 3,167,400 as of December 31, 

2008. The average number of services subscribed to by each of our 

connected customers (RGU) remained at 1.77 services at December 

31, 2007 and December 31, 2008, primarily due to increases from 

existing systems offset by lower amounts from recently acquired 

companies. The average franchise revenue per customer per month 

was ¥7,687 and ¥7,789 for the twelve months ended December 31, 

2007 and 2008, respectively. 

Churn Rate

The average monthly churn rates for our cable television, high-speed 

Internet and telephone services averaged 1.0%, 1.3% and 0.7%, 

respectively, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 

compared to 1.0%, 1.2%, and 0.7%, respectively, for the twelve 

months ended December 31, 2008.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

 Liquidity

Our principal sources of liquidity for working capital, capital expendi-

tures and investments are cash provided from operations and 

borrowings available under our loan facilities. 

 We have typically financed the purchase of cable television home 

terminals and other customer premise equipment using capital 

leases. As of December 31, 2008, the obligations under outstanding 

capital leases aggregated approximately ¥63,931 million. We also 

had term loans outstanding as of December 31, 2008 from the 

Development Bank of Japan (DBJ) of ¥37,972 million, of which 

¥14,343 million were interest-free loans. 

 We believe that our current sources of liquidity are sufficient to 

meet our needs through 2009. However, in the event major invest-

ment or acquisition opportunities were to arise, we might be re-

quired to seek additional debt or capital in order to consummate 

such transactions.

 Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the net cash provided by 

operating activities was ¥100,692 million, and existing cash and 

cash equivalents was used to fund net cash used in our investing 

and financing activities of ¥76,357 million and ¥25,722 million, 

respectively.

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased ¥5,466 million, 

or 6%, from ¥95,226 million for the twelve months ended December 

31, 2007 to ¥100,692 million for the twelve months ended December 

31, 2008. The increase is primarily attributable to (a) an increase in 

our revenue and cash used for our operating and SG&A expenses, 

offset by (b) an increase in cash paid for income taxes and (c) 

changes in our working capital accounts. 

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased ¥23,629 million from 

¥52,728 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 to 

¥76,357 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008. 

The net cash used for the twelve months ended December 31, 2008 

primarily consisted of ¥46,972 million for capital expenditures and 

¥29,410 million for our acquisition of new subsidiaries and the 

acquisition of business operations.

Cash Used in Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities decreased ¥14,372 million, or 

36%, from ¥40,094 million for the twelve months ended December 

31, 2007 to ¥25,722 million for the twelve months ended December 

31, 2008. The ¥25,772 net cash used in financing activities for the 

year ended December 31, 2008 consisted of ¥17,105 million of 

principal payments under capital lease obligations, ¥7,448 million net 

payments of short-term loans and long-term debt, ¥3,428 million of 

dividends paid to shareholders, offset by ¥856 million of proceeds 

from issuance of common stock and ¥1,403 million of other financ-

ing activities.

 Factors Affecting Future Sources of Liquidity

Our future sources of working capital and liquidity depend upon a 

number of factors, including the following:

•  the amount of cash provided by operating activities, which will 

primarily be affected by our ability to generate operating income;

•  the quality of our credit and our credit ratings, which will impact 

our borrowing costs and our ability to raise additional funds;

•  the general interest rate environment and our ability to reduce our 

indebtedness through the use of operating cash flow, thereby 

increasing future borrowing availability under our syndicated loan 

facility; and

•  future market conditions for the issuance of our debt and equity 

securities.
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 Contractual Commitments

Our principal outstanding contractual obligations relate to our short-term loans, long-term debt under our term loans, capital leases, non-

cancellable operating leases and certain equipment financing contracts, programming obligations and other obligations. The following table 

summarizes our contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2008 for the periods indicated:

 Yen in millions

Contractual Obligations Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter

Short-term loans and Long-term 

 debt (excluding interest) ¥189,033 ¥18,545 ¥34,353 ¥19,248 ¥18,602 ¥69,882 ¥28,403

Capital leases (excluding interest) 63,931 18,463 16,713 12,929 9,340 5,102 1,384

Non-cancellable operating leases 1,717 578 516 207 156 97 163

Non-cancellable purchase and 

 other commitments 8,549 3,495 2,245 1,042 618 247 902

Total contractual cash obligations ¥263,230 ¥41,081 ¥53,827 ¥33,426 ¥28,716 ¥75,328 ¥30,852

Projected cash interest payments on debt  

 and capital lease obligations* ¥12,654 ¥3,910 ¥3,302 ¥2,503 ¥1,909 ¥919 ¥111

* Based on interest rates and contractual maturities in effect on December 31, 2008

 Contingent Liabilities and Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

We do not presently have any material contingent liabilities or off-

balance sheet transactions.

 Interest Rates

Our primary market risk exposure consists of risk related to changes 

in interest rates related to our variable-rate debt. We utilize interest 

rate swap agreements to hedge a portion of this risk. We do not use 

derivative instruments for speculative or trading purposes. 

 At December 31, 2008, ¥130,561 million, or 69% of the total 

outstanding short-term loans and long-term debt, had variable rates, 

and are subsequently sensitive to changes in market interest rates. 

We have in place interest rate swap agreements for ¥61,500 million, 

or 33% of all variable-rate debt, which effectively converts such 

portions of our Japanese yen LIBOR-indexed and TIBOR-indexed 

debt to fixed-rate debt and limits our exposure to changes in market 

rates. Taking the interest rate swap agreements into account, a 1% 

increase in the average market rate would result in an increase in our 

annual interest expense of approximately ¥691 million. This amount 

is determined by considering the impact of hypothetical interest 

rates on our borrowing cost, but does not consider all the effects of 

the reduced level of overall economic activity that could exist in such 

an environment. 

 Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures, including capital lease additions, decreased by 

¥2,886 million, or 4%, from ¥65,281 million as of December 31, 2007 

to ¥62,395 million as of December 31, 2008. As a percentage of 

revenue, capital expenditures were approximately 25% and 21% in 

2007 and 2008, respectively. 

Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires 

us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related 

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our 

financial statements. Actual results may differ from those estimates 

under different assumptions or conditions. Critical accounting 

policies are defined as those policies that are reflective of significant 

judgments and uncertainties, which would potentially result in 

materially different results under different assumptions and condi-

tions. We believe our judgments and related estimates associated 

with the evaluation for impairment of long-lived and indefinite-lived 

assets, fair value of acquisition-related assets and liabilities, capital-

ization of construction and installation costs, and income tax ac-

counting to be critical in the preparation of our consolidated financial 
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statements. These accounting estimates or assumptions are critical 

because of the levels of judgment necessary to account for matters 

that are inherently uncertain or highly susceptible to change. For a 

summary of all of our significant accounting policies, see Note 1 in 

the consolidated financial statements.

  Evaluation for Impairment of  

Long-Lived and Indefinite-Lived Assets

The net carrying value of our property and equipment, intangible 

assets and goodwill (collectively, long-lived assets) comprised 87% 

and 88% of our total assets at December 31, 2007 and December 

31, 2008, respectively. Pursuant to SFAS 142 and SFAS 144, we are 

required to assess the recoverability of our long-lived assets. 

 We evaluate property and equipment for potential impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carry-

ing amount may not be recoverable. In the event that these periodic 

assessments reflect that the carrying amount of property and 

equipment exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows (exclud-

ing interest) that are expected to result from the use and eventual 

disposition of the property and equipment, we would recognize an 

impairment loss to the extent the carrying amount exceeded the 

estimated fair value of the property and equipment. The estimate of 

expected future net cash flows is inherently uncertain and relies on 

subjective assumptions dependent upon future and current market 

conditions and events that affect the ultimate value of the property 

and equipment.

 The net carrying value of our goodwill is also significant. We are 

required on an annual basis to assess unamortized goodwill for 

impairment in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which is a two-step process. 

The first step requires that we identify our reporting units and then 

determine the fair value for each individual reporting unit. We then 

compare the fair value of each reporting unit to the reporting unit’s 

carrying amount. To the extent a reporting unit’s carrying amount 

exceeded its fair value, we perform the next step of the impairment 

test. The next step requires us to compare the implied fair value of 

the reporting unit’s goodwill, determined by allocating the reporting 

unit’s fair value to all of its assets and liabilities, including those 

assets previously not recognized. If the implied fair value of a report-

ing unit’s goodwill is less than its carrying value, an impairment loss 

would be recorded. We determine fair market value based on 

estimated discounted future cash flows, using reasonable and 

appropriate assumptions that are consistent with our internal 

forecasts. Our assumptions also include other factors such as 

penetration rates for our different services (cable television, high-

speed Internet access and telephony), expected operating margins 

and capital expenditures. Considerable management judgment is 

necessary to estimate future cash flows, including those relating to 

the timing and amount of future cash flows and the discount rate 

used in the calculation.

 We did not record any impairment losses for the years ended 

December 31, 2007 and 2008. As noted above, the valuations 

involve considerable management judgment. However, our estimate 

of future cash flows, based on our assumptions, is subject to 

revision as our assessment of market conditions changes. If we 

determine it is necessary to recognize a material impairment in 

future periods, our financial condition and results of operations could 

be adversely affected.

 Fair Value Measurements

Fair Value of Acquisition-Related Assets and Liabilities

We allocate the purchase price of acquired companies or acquisi-

tions of minority interests of a subsidiary to the identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. 

In determining fair value, management is required to make estimates 

and assumptions that affect the recorded amounts. To assist in this 

process, third-party valuation specialists generally are engaged to 

value certain of these assets and liabilities. Estimates used in valuing 

acquired assets and liabilities include, but are not limited to, expect-

ed future cash flows, market comparables and appropriate discount 

rates. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon as-

sumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently 

 uncertain.

Derivative Instruments

We use certain derivative financial instruments to manage our 

foreign currency and interest rate exposure. We may enter into 

forward contracts to reduce our exposure to short-term (generally 

not more than one year) movements in exchange rates applicable to 

firm funding commitments that are denominated in currencies other 

than the Japanese yen. We use interest rate derivative instruments, 

such as interest rate swaps, to manage interest costs to achieve an 

overall desired mix of fixed- and variable-rate debt. As a matter of 

policy, we do not enter into derivative contracts for trading or specu-

lative purposes.  

 We account for our derivative instruments in accordance with 

SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 

Activities, and SFAS No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative 

Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, an amendment of SFAS 

No. 133. SFAS No. 133, as amended, requires that all derivative 

instruments be reported on the balance sheet as either assets or 

liabilities measured at fair value. For derivative instruments desig-

nated and effective as fair value hedges, changes in the fair value of 

the derivative instrument and of the hedged item attributable to the 

hedged risk are recognized in earnings. For derivative instruments 

designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of any hedge 
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is reported in other comprehensive income until it is recognized in 

earnings in the same period in which the hedged item affects 

earnings. The ineffective portion of all hedges is recognized in 

current earnings each period. Changes in fair value of derivative 

instruments that are not designated as a hedge are recorded each 

period in current earnings. 

 We formally document all relationships between hedging instru-

ments and hedged items, as well as our risk-management objective 

and strategy for undertaking hedge transactions. This process 

includes linking all derivatives that are designated as fair value or 

cash flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the balance 

sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecast transactions. We 

discontinue hedge accounting prospectively when (i) it is determined 

that the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the 

fair value of cash flows of a hedged item; (ii) the derivative expires or 

is sold, terminated, or exercised; (iii) it is determined that the forecast 

hedged transaction will no longer occur; (iv) a hedged firm commit-

ment no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment, or (v) 

management determines that the designation of the derivative as a 

hedge instrument is no longer appropriate. Ongoing assessments of 

effectiveness are made every three months.

 We have several outstanding forward contracts with a commercial 

bank to hedge foreign currency exposures related to U.S. dollar 

denominated equipment purchases and other firm commitments. As 

of December 31, 2007 and 2008, such forward contracts had an 

aggregate notional amount of ¥708,328 thousand and ¥984,435 

thousand, respectively, and expire on various dates through 

December 2009. These forward contracts have not been designated 

as accounting hedges. However, management believes such 

forward contracts are closely related with the firm commitments 

designated in U.S. dollars, thus managing associated currency risk.  

 We also have several outstanding forward contracts with com-

mercial banks to hedge foreign currency exposures related to U.S. 

dollar denominated firm commitments. As of December 31, 2007 

and 2008, such forward contracts had an aggregate notional 

amount of ¥1,771,902 thousand and ¥1,506,789 thousand, respec-

tively, and expire on various dates through December 2010. 

 We have several interest rate swap agreements to manage 

variable-rate debt. These interest rate exchange agreements effec-

tively fix the Japanese yen TIBOR and Japanese yen LIBOR compo-

nents of variable interest rates on borrowings of ¥61,500,000 

thousand that matures between September 2011 and April 2014. 

These forward contracts and interest rate exchange agreements are 

designated and documented as cash flow hedging instruments.

 Capitalization of Construction and Installation Costs

In accordance with SFAS No. 51, Financial Reporting by Cable 

Television Companies, we capitalize costs associated with the 

construction of new cable transmission and distribution facilities and 

the installation of new cable services. Capitalized construction and 

installation costs include materials, labor and applicable overhead 

costs. Installation activities that are capitalized include (i) the initial 

connection (or drop) from our cable system to a customer location, 

(ii) the replacement of a drop, and (iii) the installation of equipment 

for additional services, such as digital cable, telephone or broad-

band Internet services. The costs of other customer-facing activities, 

such as reconnecting customer locations where a drop already 

exists, disconnecting customer locations and repairing or maintain-

ing drops, are expensed. Significant judgment is involved in the 

determination of the nature and amount of internal costs to be 

capitalized with respect to construction and installation activities.

 Income Tax Accounting

We are required to estimate the amount of tax payable or refundable 

for the current year and the deferred tax assets and liabilities for the 

future tax consequences attributable to differences between the 

financial statement carrying amounts and income tax basis of assets 

and liabilities and the expected benefits of utilizing net operating loss 

and tax credit carryforwards, using enacted tax rates in effect for 

each taxing jurisdiction in which we operate for the year in which 

those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or 

settled. This process requires our management to make assess-

ments regarding the timing and probability of the ultimate tax impact 

of such items. 

 Net deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if 

we believe it more-likely-than-not such net deferred tax assets will 

not be realized. Establishing a tax valuation allowance requires us to 

make assessments about the timing of future events, including the 

probability of expected future taxable income and available tax 

planning strategies. At December 31, 2008, the valuation allowance 

provided against deferred tax assets was ¥1,991 million. Actual 

income taxes could vary from these estimates due to future changes 

in income tax law in the jurisdictions in which we operate, our 

inability to generate sufficient future taxable income, differences 

between estimated and actual results, or unpredicted results from 

the final determination of each year’s liability by taxing authorities. 

Any of such factors could have a material effect on our current and 

deferred tax position as reported in the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements. A high degree of judgment is required to 

assess the impact of possible future outcomes on our current and 

deferred tax positions. For additional information, see Note 10 – 

“Income Taxes”.

 Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1(t) “Accounting Changes and Recent Accounting 

Pronouncements” in the consolidated financial statements.
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Business Risks

In its business activities, the J:COM group faces risks that could 

materially impact investment decisions. Certain of these risks are 

outlined below. However, the following risks do not include all of the 

risks faced by the J:COM group; the J:COM group faces other risks 

in addition to those outlined below. The J:COM group is doing 

everything reasonable to avoid these types of risks.

 Unless otherwise clearly stated, the forward-looking statements in 

this section are the J:COM group’s judgments, targets, and fore-

casts based on assumptions and hypotheses as of March 25, 2009; 

the statements are not guarantees that the future will unfold exactly 

as forecast.

 Potential Risks within the J:COM Group

Subscriber Acquisition Strategy

The Company’s cable television subscribers are broadly classified 

into those living in detached housing and those living in multiple 

dwelling units (MDUs). Residents of MDUs account for more than 

half of the Company’s existing customers and potential customers.

 The J:COM group is working to acquire connection contracts for 

new MDUs, but if competing technology is used in new MDUs, it is 

possible that the J:COM group will not be able to acquire the resi-

dents of those MDUs as subscribers. In addition, due to such factors 

as changes in existing relationships with owners of rental-purpose 

MDUs, it is possible that the J:COM group will lose existing sub-

scribers. As a result, the J:COM group’s financial condition and 

operating results could be affected.

Securing Sales Representatives

The J:COM group is transitioning from contract sales representa-

tives to directly employed sales representatives. However, in the 

event that sales representatives cannot be effectively secured or 

trained, it is possible that the J:COM group will not be able to 

implement efficient marketing activities as planned and that the J:

COM group will lose existing subscribers and potential subscribers. 

As a result, the J:COM group’s financial condition and operating 

results could be affected.

Additional Network Investment

Against a background of rapid growth in network technology and in 

the markets served by the J:COM group, J:COM faces a continuing need 

to enhance the capabilities and reliability of its networks. However, it 

is possible that the service content provided by the J:COM group 

could become obsolete due to rapid technological innovation.

 Also, it is possible that the J:COM group might not be able to 

acquire the funds, equipment, or regulatory approval needed to 

improve or extend its networks. As a result, the J:COM group’s 

competitiveness could decline and there could be a major effect on 

the J:COM group’s operations.

Fluctuations in the J:COM Group’s Consolidated Performance

Fixed costs and variable costs arising in advance of revenues 

account for a large share of the J:COM group’s expenses. Therefore, 

it is possible that timing differences in the recognition of revenue and 

expenses could result in substantial fluctuations in quarterly perfor-

mance. In the event that this situation cannot be handled appropri-

ately, the ability of the J:COM group to conduct its operations 

efficiently could be affected.

Compliance Risks

The Information Security Committee, which reports directly to the 

president, meets periodically, and the J:COM group has formulated 

information security issue countermeasures for all systems.

 In regard to initiatives in the area of protecting personal informa-

tion, Privacy Mark certification has been acquired at nearly all J:

COM group companies. Moreover, the J:COM group has estab-

lished a system to monitor the networks of each J:COM group 

company to enable quick responses to problems. However, in the 

event that there is a leak of personal information despite these 

measures, there could be an adverse influence, in various ways, on 

the J:COM group’s results.

 Transaction Risks

Cable Television Programs

The J:COM group procures content for its cable television services 

from third parties. In cases such as those described below, the  

J:COM group could encounter difficulties in obtaining attractive 

content and, as a result, could lose existing subscribers as well as 

potential subscribers. As a result, the J:COM group’s financial 

condition and operating results could be affected.

•  A positive relationship with a company that supplies programs, 

including to competitors, ends.

•  A content provider cannot adequately discharge its obligation to 

supply content and the J:COM group is unable to procure pro-

grams from another supplier.

•  Programs can be procured but not at reasonable prices.

Network Infrastructure

To establish networks that connect managed companies, the  

J:COM group, except when it does its own construction, must lease 

fiber optical cables from other companies, such as the NTT group 

and regional electric power companies. However, in certain situa-

tions, such as if the J:COM group is unable to renew contracts with 

third parties concerning the use of such facilities as telephone poles 

or fiber optical cables, service to the J:COM group’s customers 

could be interrupted and a substantial cost burden could be in-

curred from the building of an alternate network. As a result, the  

J:COM group’s financial condition and operating results could be 

affected.
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Outside Suppliers

In general, the J:COM group sources the hardware necessary to 

provide its existing and new services from multiple equipment 

suppliers. If the suppliers of this hardware fail to deliver the equip-

ment on schedule or manufacture defective equipment, the J:COM 

group’s cable television service subscription revenues could decline 

and the J:COM group’s reputation could be damaged. As a result, 

the J:COM group’s financial condition and operating results could 

be affected.

 Market and Competitive Relationships

Competition among Companies

As a result of intensified competition in the markets for cable televi-

sion, high-speed Internet access services, and telephony services, 

there could be an increase in cancellations by existing subscribers 

and a slowing in the acquisition of new subscribers, leading to 

greater price competition. As a result, the J:COM group’s financial 

condition and operating results could be affected.

Market Growth Potential

The cable television and high-speed Internet access service markets 

have exhibited steady growth in recent years, but there were signs in 

the fiscal year under review that the growth rates of these markets 

are slowing.

 The J:COM group will continue working to implement its growth 

strategies. However, due to various factors, the J:COM group might 

not be able to maintain the current growth rate or might not grow at 

all. A slowdown in the growth of these markets or a contraction in 

demand could have a substantial adverse impact on the J:COM 

group’s financial condition and operating results.

Company Acquisitions to Expand Operations

As one of its future growth strategies, the J:COM group plans to 

continue to acquire companies offering cable television or broad-

band services and to make them J:COM group companies. 

However, if new company acquisitions are restricted, due to a range 

of possible factors, the J:COM group’s financial condition and 

operating results could be affected.

 Also, in the event that revenues and profits following the acquisi-

tion substantially fall below the plans at the time of the acquisition, it 

could be necessary to record impairment of goodwill, etc., and, as a 

result, the J:COM group’s financial condition and operating results 

could be affected.

 Legal Risks

Government Regulations

The J:COM group’s operations in Japan are subject to many laws 

and regulations. If the J:COM group does not comply with the 

applicable rules and regulations or the terms of licensing, its authori-

zation and registration could be revoked, and the J:COM group 

could be forced to suspend or cease its operations. Also, in the 

future, there could be difficulties in the acquisition of approvals, 

registrations, or notifications.

 Furthermore, in the event that new regulations are passed in the 

future, the J:COM group’s provision of services could be impacted 

and the J:COM group’s operating costs could increase in response 

to that impact. As a result, the J:COM group’s financial condition and 

operating results could be affected.

Legal Revisions

Due to changes in laws or regulations or in their interpretation or 

enforcement by the Ministry of Internal Affairs and Communications 

(MIC), the entry of new competitors could be promoted, and the J:

COM group’s competitiveness could be adversely affected. Further, 

in December 2007 the MIC announced a policy of unifying six 

communications and broadcasting related laws into the provisionally 

named Information Communications Law, with enforcement sched-

uled for 2011. The J:COM group cannot rule out the possibility that 

future revisions of the Cable Television Broadcast Law, the 

Telecommunications Business Law, and the Law Concerning 

Broadcast on Telecommunications Service, as well as relevant 

ministry ordinances and other rules and regulations, could limit the 

J:COM group’s operations. Such amendments could affect the J:

COM group’s financial condition and operating results.

 Risks from Man-made or Natural Disasters

The services provided by the J:COM group could be disrupted by 

natural disasters, such as fires, earthquakes, or floods; by equip-

ment failure caused by such disasters; and by electric power black-

outs. In addition, the J:COM group’s services could be cut off due to 

network software defects, unauthorized access, computer viruses, 

and the severance of cables as well as by accidents caused by third 

parties or the actions of third parties.

 The J:COM group strives to maintain back-up systems for its 

networks and hosting facilities, but in cases when the technical 

infrastructure of the J:COM group or the J:COM group’s service 

providers is damaged, the J:COM group’s operating activities could 

be halted. The fallout from these kinds of events could erode confi-

dence in the J:COM group and have a material impact on the J:COM 

group’s financial condition and operating results.
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 Yen in millions

 2007 2008

ASSETS

Current assets:

 Cash and cash equivalents ¥  22,890 ¥  21,503

 Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of

  ¥356 million in 2007 and ¥396 million in 2008 12,842 14,442

 Deferred tax assets (Note 10) 11,738 11,429

 Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 9) 5,164 7,250

   Total current assets 52,634 54,624

Investments:

 Investments in affiliates (Notes 3 and 5) 19,502 13,363

 Investments in other securities, at cost 2,139 2,141

   Total investments 21,641 15,504

Property and equipment, at cost (Notes 5 and 7):

 Land  2,789 3,056

 Distribution system and equipment 523,599 620,017

 Support equipment and buildings 39,148 45,580

    565,536 668,653

 Less accumulated depreciation (228,341) (284,919)

   Total property and equipment, net 337,195 383,734

Other assets:

 Goodwill (Notes 2 and 4) 221,493 246,196

 Identifiable intangible assets, net (Note 4) 32,862 38,159

 Deferred tax assets (Note 10) 4,423 4,137

 Other  10,168 13,316

   Total other assets 268,946 301,808

   Total assets ¥ 680,416 ¥ 755,670

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Years ended December 31
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 Yen in millions

 2007 2008

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

 Short-term loans (Note 6) ¥  2,625 ¥ 6,092

 Long-term debt—current portion (Notes 6 and 8) 21,308 12,453

 Capital lease obligations—current portion (Notes 5 and 7):

  Related parties 11,671 15,355

  Other 2,947 3,108

 Accounts payable 24,279 21,298

 Deposit from affiliate (Note 5) 3,536 4,124

 Deferred revenue—current portion (Note 1) 6,088 7,314

 Income tax payable 7,082 9,907

 Accrued expenses and other liabilities (Note 9) 6,236 10,059

   Total current liabilities 85,772 89,710

Long-term debt, less current portion (Notes 6 and 8) 143,219 170,488

Capital lease obligations, less current portion (Notes 5 and 7):

 Related parties 34,335 38,705

 Other  6,911 6,763

Deferred revenue (Note 1) 54,708 66,537

Redeemable preferred stock of consolidated subsidiary 500 —

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 10) 12,643 11,827

Other liabilities (Notes 1, 9, 10 and 11) 6,920 13,353

   Total liabilities 345,008 397,383

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)

Minority interests 5,399 8,935

Shareholders’ equity (Note 12):

 Ordinary shares no par value 116,734 117,162

 Authorized 15,000,000 shares: issued 6,927,357.74 shares at 

  December 31, 2007 and 6,938,107.00 shares at December 31, 2008

 Additional paid-in capital 231,493 226,388

 Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) (10,079) 14,457

 Treasury stock at cost: 80,000.74 shares at December 31, 2007 and 

  80,000.00 shares at December 31, 2008 (7,520) (7,520)

 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (619) (1,135)

   Total shareholders’ equity 330,009 349,352

   Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ¥680,416 ¥755,670

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Years ended December 31

 Yen in millions, except share and per share amounts

 2007 2008

Revenue:

 Subscription fees ¥ 230,061 ¥ 251,849

 Other (Notes 1 and 5) 34,447 42,459

    264,508 294,308

Operating costs and expenses:

 Operating and programming (other than depreciation and amortization)  

  (including stock-based compensation of ¥35 million in 2007 and ¥7 million in 2008)

  (Notes 1, 5, and 12) (104,748) (112,099)

 Selling, general and administrative (including stock-based compensation of 

  ¥105 million in 2007 and ¥48 million in 2008)

  (Notes 1, 5, and 12) (52,722) (59,514)

 Depreciation and amortization (Notes 1 and 4) (64,222) (69,020)

    (221,692) (240,633)

  Operating income 42,816 53,675

Other income (expense):

 Interest expense, net:

  Related parties (Note 5) (1,332) (1,479)

  Other (2,944) (3,240)

Equity in earnings of affiliates (inclusive of stock compensation expense of

 ¥1 million in 2007 and ¥0 million in 2008) (Notes 1, 3, and 12) 291 600

 Other income, net 558 177

  Income before minority interest and income taxes 39,389 49,733

Minority interest in net income of consolidated subsidiaries (1,883) (2,293)

  Income before income taxes 37,506 47,440

Income tax expense (Note 10) (13,514) (19,476)

   Net income ¥  23,992 ¥  27,964

Net income per share:

 Basic  ¥3,650 ¥4,080

 Diluted 3,639 4,076

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:

 Basic  6,572,638 6,854,535

 Diluted 6,593,130 6,860,334

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Years ended December 31

 Yen in millions, except per share amounts

   Retained  Accumulated   

   Earnings Other  Total 

  Additional ( Accumulated ) Comprehensive  Shareholders’ 

 Ordinary Shares Paid-in Capital Deficit Loss Treasury Stock Equity

Balance at January 1, 2007 ¥115,232 ¥196,335 ¥(34,071) ¥  (200) ¥   (0) ¥277,296

Net income — — 23,992 — — 23,992

Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes — — — (419) — (419)

Stock-based compensation (Notes 1 and 12) — 141 — — — 141

Ordinary shares issued  

 upon exercise of stock options 1,502 1,470 — — — 2,972

Repurchase of common stock — — — — (7,520) (7,520)

Issuance of common stock in connection  

 with acquisition (Note 2) — 33,547 — — — 33,547

Balance at December 31, 2007 ¥116,734 ¥231,493 ¥(10,079) ¥  (619) ¥(7,520) ¥330,009

Net income — — 27,964 — — 27,964

Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes — — — (516) — (516)

Stock-based compensation (Notes 1 and 12) — 55 — — — 55

Ordinary shares issued  

 upon exercise of stock options 428 428 — — — 856

Cash dividend paid to shareholders — — (3,428) — — (3,428)

Cancellation of treasury stock — (0) — — 0 —

Distribution to parent in connection with  

 the Mediatti acquisition (Note 2) — (5,588) — — — (5,588)

Balance at December 31, 2008 ¥117,162 ¥226,388 ¥ 14,457 ¥(1,135) ¥(7,520) ¥349,352

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Years ended December 31

 Yen in millions

 2007 2008

Net income ¥23,992 ¥27,964

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of taxes (Note 1):

 Unrealized loss on cash flow hedge (416) (808)

 Reclassification adjustment for losses (gains) on cash flow hedges included in net income (3) 292

  Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes  (419) (516)

   Comprehensive income ¥23,573 ¥27,448

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Years ended December 31

 Yen in millions

 2007 2008

Cash flows from operating activities:

 Net income ¥ 23,992 ¥ 27,964

 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

  Depreciation and amortization 64,222 69,020

  Equity in earnings of affiliates (291) (600)

  Minority interest in net income of consolidated subsidiaries 1,883 2,293

  Stock-based compensation expense 140 55

  Deferred income tax expense 1,657 2,772

  Non-cash gain from forgiveness of debt — (135)

  Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding effects of business combinations:

   Decrease in accounts receivable, net 2,477 96

   Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other current assets 214 (1,273)

   Increase in other assets (2,478) (2,339)

   Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 412 (3,418)

   Increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,834 7,247

   Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue 164 (990)

   Net cash provided by operating activities 95,226 100,692

Cash flows from investing activities:

 Capital expended for property and equipment (46,348) (46,972)

 Cash paid in connection with acquisitions, net of cash acquired (Note 2) 634 (27,700)

 Acquisition of operating assets (Note 2) — (1,710)

 Acquisition of minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries (Note 2) (2,543) (132)

 Investments in related party (Note 3) (1,138) —

 Loan to related parties (5,166) —

 Principal repayment received from related party 1,350 —

 Other investing activities, net 483 157

   Net cash used in investing activities (52,728) (76,357)

Cash flows from financing activities:

 Proceeds from issuance of common stock 2,973 856

 Repurchase of common stock (7,520) —

 Net increase (decrease) in short-term loans 335 (294)

 Borrowings of long-term debt (Note 6) 613 55,284

 Repayments of long-term debt (Note 6) (25,699) (62,438)

 Repayments of capital lease obligations (Note 7) (15,689) (17,105)

 Cash dividend paid to shareholders — (3,428)

 Other financing activities, net 4,893 1,403

   Net cash used in financing activities (40,094) (25,722)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,404 (1,387)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 20,486 22,890

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ¥ 22,890 ¥ 21,503

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries 
Years ended December 31

1. Description of Business, Basis of Financial Statements and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

 Business and Organization

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. (“Jupiter”) and its subsidiaries 

(collectively, “the Company”) own and operate cable telecommuni-

cations systems throughout Japan and provide cable television ser-

vices, telephony and high-speed Internet access services (collectively, 

“broadband communications services”). The telecommunications in-

dustry in Japan is highly regulated by the Ministry of Internal Affairs 

and Communications (“MIC”). Franchise rights granted by the MIC to 

the Company’s subsidiaries for operation of cable telecommunica-

tions systems in their respective localities are not exclusive. 

 On February 18, 2005, as a result of the Company’s IPO an-

nouncement, LGI International, Inc. (“LGI International”) obtained 

a controlling interest in the Company’s parent company, LGI/

Sumisho Super Media, LLC (“SM”), a company indirectly owned by 

LGI International and Sumitomo Corporation (“SC”). As a result, SM 

became the majority shareholder in the Company. On June 15, 

2005, LGI International became a wholly owned subsidiary of Liberty 

Global Inc. (“LGI”), whose shares are listed on the NASDAQ Global 

Select Market. In the following text, LGI, as the content requires, 

may refer to LGI and its predecessor (LGI International) and subsid-

iaries. The Company is an indirect consolidated subsidiary of LGI.

 On March 23, 2005, the Company received net proceeds 

of ¥82,043 million in connection with an IPO of its common shares, 

and on April 20, 2005 received additional net proceeds of ¥8,445 

million in connection with the sale of common shares upon the exer-

cise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option. The Company used a 

portion of the net proceeds received in March to repay in full a then 

existing ¥50 billion subordinated syndicated facility.

 On July 2, 2007, SC Media and Commerce, Inc. (“SC Media”) (for-

merly known as Jupiter TV Co., Ltd.) was split into two separate 

companies through the spin-off of the thematics channel business 

(“JTV Thematics”). On September 1, 2007, the Company acquired 

JTV Thematics, which invests in, develops, manages and distributes 

fee-based television programming. This acquisition enables the 

Company to bring key programming genres to the Japanese market 

and to promote the development of quality programming services. 

Through JTV Thematics, the Company develops, manages and dis-

tributes pay television services in Japan on a platform-neutral basis 

through various distribution infrastructures, principally cable and di-

rect-to-home (DTH) service providers, and more recently, alternative 

broadband service providers using fiber-to-the-home (FTTH) and 

ADSL platforms. See Note 2 for additional information.

 On December 25, 2008, the Company acquired 100% of the 

 outstanding stock of Mediatti Communications, Inc. (“Mediatti”), 

the third largest cable TV operator in Japan, which mainly operates 

in the Kanto region. See Note 2 for additional information.

 Basis of Financial Statements

The Company maintains its books of account in conformity with 

 financial accounting standards of Japan. The consolidated financial 

statements presented herein have been prepared in a manner and 

reflect certain adjustments which are necessary to conform to 

 accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”). 

These adjustments include those related to the scope of consolida-

tion and the accounting for business combinations, income taxes, 

goodwill and identifiable intangible assets, leases, stock-based com-

pensation, deferred revenue, asset retirement obligations, derivative 

financial instruments, revenue recognition, post-retirement benefits, 

depreciation and amortization, and accruals for certain expenses.

 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the 

Company’s accounts and the accounts of all voting interest entities 

where the Company exercises a controlling financial interest through 

the ownership of a direct or indirect controlling voting interest and a 

variable interest entities for which the Company is the primary bene-

ficiary. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have 

been eliminated in consolidation. For the consolidated subsidiaries 

with a negative equity position, the Company recognizes the entire 

amount of losses of such subsidiaries regardless of its ownership 

percentage.

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of all investments that are readily convert-

ible into cash and have maturities of three months or less at the time 

of the acquisition. The Company’s significant non-cash investing ac-

tivities are disclosed in Note 13.

(c) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Receivables are reported net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. 

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on the Company’s as-

sessment of probable loss related to uncollectible accounts receiv-

able. The Company uses a number of factors in determining the 

allowance, including, among other things, collection trends, prevail-

ing and anticipated economic conditions and specific customer 

credit risk. The allowance is maintained until either receipt of pay-

ment or the likelihood of collection is considered to be remote. 

 Concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables is 

limited due to the large number of customers throughout Japan. 

The Company also manages this risk by disconnecting services 

to customers whose accounts are delinquent.

(d) Investments

For those investments in affiliates in which the Company’s voting in-

terest is between 20% to 50% and the Company has the ability to 

exercise significant influence over the affiliates’ operation and finan-

cial policies, the equity method of accounting is used. Under this 

method, the investment is originally recorded at cost and adjusted to 

recognize the Company’s share of the net earnings or losses of the 

affiliates as they occur, with the Company’s recognition of losses 

generally limited to the extent of the investment in, advances to and 

commitments to the investee. All significant intercompany profits on 

transactions with these affiliates where assets remain on the balance 

sheet of the Company or the investee are eliminated to the extent of 

the Company’s ownership in the investee.
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 Investments in other securities carried at cost represent non-mar-

ketable equity securities in which the Company’s ownership is less 

than 20% and the Company does not have the ability to exercise 

significant influence over the entities’ operation and financial policies.

 The Company evaluates its investments in affiliates and non-mar-

ketable equity securities for impairment due to declines in fair value 

considered to be other-than-temporary. The primary factors consid-

ered in these evaluations are the extent and length of time that the 

fair value of the investment is below its carrying value, the financial 

condition, operating performance and near-term prospects of the in-

vestee, changes in the stock price or valuation subsequent to the 

balance sheet date and the impact of exchange rates, if applicable. 

In addition, the reasons for the decline in fair value, such as (i) gener-

al market conditions and (ii) industry specific or investee specific fac-

tors, as well as the Company’s intent and ability to hold the 

investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for a recovery in fair 

value are considered. If the decline in fair value is deemed to be oth-

er-than-temporary, the cost basis of the security is written down to 

fair value. In situations where the fair value of an investment is not 

evident due to a lack of a public market price or other factors, man-

agement uses its best estimates and assumptions to arrive at the 

estimated fair value of such investment. 

(e) Derivative Instruments 

The Company uses certain derivative financial instruments to man-

age its foreign currency and interest rate exposure. The Company 

may enter into forward contracts to reduce its exposure to short-

term (generally not more than one year) movements in exchange 

rates applicable to firm funding commitments that are denominated 

in currencies other than Japanese yen. The Company uses interest 

rate derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to manage 

interest costs to achieve an overall desired mix of fixed- and variable-

rate debt. As a matter of policy, the Company does not enter into 

derivative contracts for trading or speculative purposes.

 The Company accounts for its derivative instruments in accor-

dance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 

No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 

Activities, and SFAS No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative 

Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities – an amendment of 

SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 133, as amended, requires that all deriva-

tive instruments be reported on the balance sheet as either assets 

or liabilities measured at fair value. For derivative instruments desig-

nated and effective as fair value hedges, changes in the fair value of 

the derivative instrument and of the hedged item attributable to the 

hedged risk are recognized in earnings. For derivative instruments 

designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of any hedge 

is reported in other comprehensive income until it is recognized in 

earnings in the same period in which the hedged item affects earn-

ings. The ineffective portion of all hedges is recognized in current 

earnings each period. Changes in fair value of derivative instruments 

that are not designated as a hedge are recorded each period in 

 current earnings. 

 The Company formally documents all relationships between hedg-

ing instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk-management 

objective and strategy for undertaking hedge transactions. This pro-

cess includes linking all derivatives that are designated as fair value 

or cash flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the balance 

sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. 

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when (i) 

it is determined that the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting 

changes in the fair value of cash flows of a hedged item; (ii) the de-

rivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised; (iii) it is deter-

mined that the forecasted hedged transaction will no longer occur; 

(iv) a hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition of a 

firm commitment; or (v) the Company determines that the designa-

tion of the derivative as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate. 

Ongoing assessments of effectiveness are made every three months.

 The Company had several outstanding forward contracts with a 

commercial bank to hedge foreign currency exposures related to 

U.S. dollar denominated equipment purchases and other firm com-

mitments. As of December 31, 2007 and 2008, such forward con-

tracts had an aggregate notional amount of ¥708,328 thousand and 

¥984,435 thousand, respectively, and expire on various dates through 

December 2009. These forward contracts have not been designated 

as accounting hedges. However, the Compamy believes such for-

ward contracts are closely related with the firm commitments desig-

nated in U.S. dollars, thus managing associated currency risk.

 The Company also had several outstanding forward contracts 

with a commercial bank to hedge foreign currency exposures related 

to U.S. dollar denominated firm commitments. As of December 31, 

2007 and 2008, such forward contracts had an aggregate notional 

amount of ¥1,771,902 thousand and ¥1,506,789 thousand, respec-

tively, and expire on various dates through December 2010. These 

forward contracts are designated and documented as cash flow 

hedging instruments.

 The Company also had several interest rate swap agreements to 

manage variable-rate debt. These interest rate exchange agree-

ments effectively fix the Japanese Yen TIBOR and Yen LIBOR com-

ponents of variable interest rates on borrowings of ¥61,500,000 

thousand that matures between September 2011 and April 2014. 

These interest rate exchange agreements are designated and docu-

mented as cash flow hedging instruments.

(f) Programming Rights and Language Versioning

Rights to programming acquired for broadcast on the programming 

channels and language versioning are stated at the lower of cost or 

net realizable value. Program right licenses generally state a fixed 

time period within which a program can be aired, and generally limit 

the number of times a program can be aired. The licensor retains 

ownership of the program upon expiration of the license. 

Programming rights and language versioning costs are amortized 

over the license period for the program rights based on the nature of 

the contract or program. Where airing runs are limited, amortization 

is generally based on runs usage, and where usage is unlimited, a 

straight-line basis is used as an estimate of actual usage for amorti-

zation purposes. Certain sports programs are amortized fully upon 

first airing. Such amortization is included in operating and program-

ming costs in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
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 income. The portion of unamortized program rights and language 

versioning costs expected to be amortized within one year is includ-

ed in other current assets in the accompanying consolidated bal-

ance sheets.

(g) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including construction materials, are car-

ried at cost, which includes all direct costs and certain indirect costs 

associated with the construction of cable television transmission and 

distribution systems, and the costs of new subscriber installations. 

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line method using estimated 

useful lives, which are as follows:

 Equipment under capital leases is stated at the present value of 

minimum lease payments. Equipment under capital leases is amor-

tized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or es-

timated useful life of the asset, which ranges from 2 to 20 years. The 

useful lives used to depreciate cable distribution systems are as-

sessed periodically and are adjusted when warranted. The useful 

lives of systems that are undergoing a rebuild are adjusted such that 

the property and equipment to be retired will be fully depreciated by 

the time the rebuild is complete.

 In accordance with SFAS No. 51, Financial Reporting by Cable 

Television Companies (SFAS 51), the Company capitalizes costs as-

sociated with the construction of new cable transmission and distri-

bution facilities and the installation of new cable services. Capitalized 

construction and installation costs include materials, labor and other 

directly attributable costs. Installation activities that are capitalized 

include (i) the initial connection (or drop) from the Company’s cable 

system to a customer location, (ii) the replacement of a drop and (iii) 

the installation of equipment for additional services, such as digital 

cable, telephone or broadband Internet service. The costs of other 

customer-facing activities, such as reconnecting locations where a 

drop already exists, disconnecting customer locations and repairing 

or maintaining drops, are expensed as incurred.

 Included in support equipment is certain capitalized development 

costs associated with internal-use software, including external costs 

of material and services and payroll costs for employees devoting 

time to the software projects. These costs are amortized over a peri-

od not to exceed five years beginning when the asset is substantially 

ready for use. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage, as 

well as maintenance and training costs, are expensed as incurred.

 Ordinary maintenance and repairs are charged to income as in-

curred. Major replacements and improvements are capitalized. 

When property and equipment is retired or otherwise disposed, the 

cost and related accumulated depreciation accounts are relieved of 

the applicable amounts and any differences are included in depreci-

ation expense. The impact of such retirements and disposals result-

ed in additional depreciation expense of ¥2,153,515 thousand and 

¥1,995,198 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 

2008, respectively. 

 According to the guidance in SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset 

Retirement Obligation, as interpreted by FASB Interpretation No. 47, 

Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (FIN 47), 

the Company recognizes a liability for asset retirement obligations in 

the period in which it is incurred if sufficient information is available 

to make a reasonable estimate of fair value. The Company has de-

termined that conditional legal obligations exist for certain of the 

Company’s leased facilities and certain cable distribution and 

 equipment. As of December 31, 2007 and 2008, the value of the 

Company’s asset retirement obligations was ¥1,758,439 thousand 

and ¥2,059,182 thousand, respectively, and is included in other 

 liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

(h) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference primarily between the cost of the 

acquired cable television or programming companies and amounts 

allocated to the estimated fair value of their net assets. The 

Company performs an assessment of goodwill for impairment at 

least annually on October 1 and more frequently if an indicator of im-

pairment has occurred using a two-step process. The first step re-

quires identification of reporting units and determination of the fair 

value for each individual reporting unit. The fair value of each report-

ing unit is then compared to the reporting unit’s carrying amount in-

cluding assigned goodwill. To the extent a reporting unit’s carrying 

amount exceeds its fair value, the second step of the impairment 

test is performed by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting 

unit’s goodwill to its carrying amount. If the implied fair value of a re-

porting unit’s goodwill is less than the carrying amount, an impair-

ment loss is recorded. The Company performs its annual impairment 

test on the first day of October. The Company has determined its 

 reporting units to be the same as its reportable segments. The 

Company had no goodwill impairment charges for the years ended 

December 31, 2007 and 2008.

(i) Long-Lived Assets

The Company and its subsidiaries’ long-lived assets, excluding 

goodwill, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may 

not be recoverable. For purposes of impairment testing, long-lived 

assets are grouped to the lowest level for which cash flows are 

largely independent of other assets and liabilities. Recoverability of 

assets to be held and used is measured by comparing the carrying 

amount of an asset or asset group to the future net cash flows (un-

discounted and without interest) expected to be generated by the 

asset or asset group. If the carrying amount of the asset or asset 

group is greater than the undiscounted cash flows, impairment is 

recognized and measured by the amount by which the carrying 

amount of the assets or asset group exceeds the estimated fair val-

ue of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower 

of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

(j) Other Assets

Other assets include certain deferred financing costs, primarily legal 

fees and bank facility fees, incurred to negotiate and secure the 

Company’s bank facilities. These costs are amortized to interest 

 expense using effective interest method over the term of the facility. 

Asset Description Estimated Useful Lives

Distribution system and equipment 10 to 17 years

Buildings and structures 15 to 40 years

Support equipment 5 to 15 years
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For additional information concerning the Company’s debt facilities, 

see Note 6. 

(k) Income Taxes

The Company and its subsidiaries account for income taxes under 

the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differenc-

es between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing as-

sets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and the expected 

benefits of utilizing net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax 

rates in effect for each taxing jurisdiction in which the Company op-

erates for the years in which those temporary differences are ex-

pected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets 

and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the 

period that includes the enactment date. The Company recognizes 

the financial statement effects of a tax position when it is more-likely-

than-not, based on the technical merits, that the position will be sus-

tained upon examination. Deferred tax assets are then reduced by a 

valuation allowance if the Company believes it is more-likely-than-not 

such deferred tax assets will not be realized. Interest related to in-

come tax liabilities is included in interest expense and penalties are 

included in income tax expense. 

(l) Severance and Retirement Plans

The Company and its subsidiaries have unfunded noncontributory 

defined benefit severance and retirement plans which are accounted 

for in accordance with SFAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for 

Pensions. Effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted 

SFAS No. 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension 

and Other Postretirement Plans – An Amendment of FASB 

Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R), see Note 11.

(m) Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes cable television, high-speed Internet ac-

cess and telephony revenues when such services are provided to 

subscribers. Initial subscriber installation revenues are recognized in 

the period in which the related services are provided to the extent of 

direct selling costs. Any remaining amount is deferred and recog-

nized over the estimated average period that the subscribers are ex-

pected to remain connected to the cable television system. 

Historically, installation revenues have been less than related direct 

selling costs, and therefore, such revenues have been recognized as 

installations are completed.

 The Company recognizes programming service revenues in the 

periods in which the programming services are provided to cable, 

satellite and broadband subscribers. Revenues derived from other 

sources are recognized when services are provided, contracts are 

completed or events occur or products are delivered.

 The Company provides rebroadcasting services to noncable tele-

vision viewers who receive poor reception of broadcast television 

signals as a result of obstacles that have been constructed by third 

parties. The Company enters into agreements with these third par-

ties, whereby the Company receives up-front compensation to con-

struct and maintain cable facilities to provide rebroadcasting 

services to the affected viewers at no cost to the viewers during the 

agreement period. Revenue from these agreements has been de-

ferred and is being recognized in income on a straight-line basis over 

periods (generally 20 years) that are consistent with the durations of 

the underlying agreements. During the years ended December 31, 

2007 and 2008, the Company recognized revenue under these ar-

rangements totaling ¥5,604 million and ¥5,984 million, respectively, 

which is included in revenue - other in the accompanying consolidat-

ed statements of income. Deferred revenue under these poor recep-

tion rebroadcasting service arrangements included in the 

accompanying consolidated balance sheets is as follows:

 Yen in millions 

 2007 2008

Deferred revenue PRC—current ¥ 4,054 ¥ 5,366

Deferred revenue PRC—non current 54,195 65,546

 Total deferred revenue PRC ¥58,249 ¥70,912

 See Note 5 for a description of related-party revenue in the ac-

companying consolidated statements of income.

(n) Advertising and Sales Promotion Expenses

Advertising and sales promotion expense is charged to expense as 

incurred. Advertising and sales promotion expenses amounted to 

¥3,520,060 thousand and ¥4,063,949 thousand for the years ended 

December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively, and are included in sell-

ing, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying con-

solidated statements of income.

(o) Consumption Taxes

Revenue is recorded net of applicable consumption taxes. 

(p) Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 

No. 123 (R) using the modified prospective adoption method. As a 

result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123 (R), the Company began (i) 

using the fair value method to recognize share-based compensation, 

(ii) estimating forfeitures for purposes of recognizing the remaining 

fair value of all unvested awards and (iii) using the straight-line 

 method to recognize stock-based compensation expense for the 

Company’s outstanding stock awards granted after January 1, 2006 

and the accelerated expense attribution method for the Company’s 

outstanding stock awards granted prior to January 1, 2006. 

 The Company accounts for stock-based compensation awards 

using the fair value method. Under this method, the fair value of the 

stock-based award is determined using the Black-Scholes option-

pricing model. SFAS No. 123 (R) generally requires all share-based 

payments to be recognized in the financial statements based on 

grant-date fair values and also requires the fair value of outstanding 

stock-based compensation awards vesting after the date of initial 

adoption to be charged to income over the remaining vesting period. 

For awards granted during 2007 and 2008, the fair value was calcu-

lated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the follow-

ing assumptions: 
Years ended December 31, 2007 2008

Expected dividend yield None   0.64%

Volatility 30.85% 32.51%

Risk-free rate 1.66% 0.96%

Expected life 10 years 4 years
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  The expected life of stock options was calculated using the “sim-

plified method” set forth in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107. The 

 expected volatility for stock options was based on the historical vola-

tilities of the Company, and certain other companies with similar 

characteristics.

(q) Earnings per Share

Earnings per share (EPS) is presented in accordance with the provi-

sions of SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share. Under SFAS No. 128, 

basic EPS excludes dilution for potential ordinary shares and is com-

puted by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of or-

dinary shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the 

potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to 

issue ordinary shares were exercised or converted into ordinary 

shares. The computations of basic and diluted EPS amounts are 

as follows:

 Yen in millions, 
 except share and per share amounts

Years ended December 31, 2007 2008

Net income ¥23,992 ¥27,964

Weighted-average number of   

 common shares outstanding:

 Basic 6,572,638 6,854,535

 Effect of dilutive common  

  stock equivalents 20,492 5,799

 Diluted 6,593,130 6,860,334

Net income per share:

 Basic ¥ 3,650 ¥ 4,080

 Diluted ¥ 3,639 ¥ 4,076

(r) Segments 

The Company reports operating segment information in accordance 

with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise 

and Related Information. SFAS No. 131 defined operating segments 

as components of an enterprise about which separate financial infor-

mation is available that is regularly evaluated by the chief operating 

decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual 

segment and in assessing performance of the segment. 

 The Company’s broadband operating segments have been ag-

gregated into one reportable segment as they have similar economic 

characteristics. Programming services are considered as a separate 

operating segment, however, due to the insignificant size of these 

operations as of December 31, 2008 management has determined 

that the Company has one reportable segment, broadband commu-

nications services.

(s) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that af-

fect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and ex-

pense during the reporting period. Estimates and assumptions are 

used in accounting for, among other things, the valuation of acquisi-

tion-related assets and liabilities, allowance for doubtful accounts, 

deferred income taxes and related valuation allowances, loss contin-

gencies, fair values of financial and derivative instruments, fair values 

of long-lived assets and any related impairments, capitalization of in-

ternal costs associated with construction and installation activities, 

useful lives of long-lived assets, stock-based compensation and ac-

tuarial liabilities associated with certain benefit plans. Actual results 

could differ from those estimates.

(t)  Accounting Changes and Recent Accounting 

Pronouncements 

Accounting Changes

SFAS 157 and FSP 157-3

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 

(FASB) issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (SFAS 157). 

SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring 

fair value under U.S. GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair val-

ue measurements. SFAS 157 was effective for financial statements 

issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 

15, 2007. However, the effective date of SFAS 157 has been deferred 

to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008 and interim peri-

ods within those years as it relates to fair value measurement re-

quirements for (i) nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are not 

remeasured at fair value on a recurring basis, such as asset retire-

ment obligations, restructuring liabilities and assets and liabilities ac-

quired in business combination, and (ii) fair value measurements 

required for impairments under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other 

Intangible Assets (SFAS 142) and SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the 

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The Company adopt-

ed SFAS 157 (exclusive of the deferred provisions discussed above) 

effective January 1, 2008. For information regarding the impacts of 

such adoption on our consolidated financial statements, see Note 9. 

The deferred provisions of SFAS 157 will be applied prospectively 

following our adoption of these provisions on January 1, 2009.

 In October 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 157-3, 

Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset in a Market That Is 

Not Active (FSP 157-3). FSP 157-3 clarifies the application of SFAS 

157 when the market for a financial asset is inactive. Specifically, 

FSP 157-3 clarifies how (i) management’s internal assumptions 

should be considered in measuring fair value when observable data 

are not present, (ii) observable market information from an inactive 

market should be taken into account and (iii) the use of broker 

quotes or pricing services should be considered in assessing the 

relevance of observable and unobservable data to measure fair val-

ue. FSP 157-3 was effective upon issuance, including prior periods 

for which financial statements had not been issued. The implemen-

tation of the guidance provided in FSP 157-3 did not have a material 

impact on our consolidated financial statements.

SFAS 159

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value 

Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (SFAS 159). SFAS 

159 permits entities to choose to measure financial assets and finan-

cial liabilities at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis. 

Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option 

has been elected are reported in earnings. Effective January 1, 

2008, the Company elected not to apply the fair value option to any 

of its financial assets or liabilities.
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FIN 48

In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, 

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an Interpretation of 

FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48), which clarifies the accounting for 

uncertainty in income taxes recognized in the financial statements in 

accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (SFAS 

109). FIN 48 prescribes the recognition threshold and provides guid-

ance for the financial statement recognition and measurement of un-

certain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. 

FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, inter-

est and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosures and 

transition. The Company’s January 1, 2007 adoption did not have 

a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

SFAS 141 (R)

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (R), Business 

Combinations (SFAS 141 (R)). SFAS 141 (R) replaces SFAS 141, 

Business Combinations, and among other factors, generally requires 

an acquirer in a business combination to recognize (i) the assets ac-

quired, (ii) the liabilities assumed (including those arising from con-

tractual contingencies), (iii) any contingent consideration and (iv) any 

noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at the acquisition date, at fair 

values as of that date. The requirements of SFAS 141 (R) will result in 

the recognition by the acquirer of goodwill attributable to the non-

controlling interest in addition to that attributable to the acquirer. 

SFAS 141 (R) also provides that the acquirer shall not adjust the fi-

nalized accounting for business combinations, including business 

combinations completed prior to the effective date of SFAS 141 (R), 

for changes in acquired tax uncertainties or changes in the valuation 

allowances for acquired deferred tax assets that occur subsequent 

to the effective date of SFAS 141 (R). SFAS 141 (R) applies prospec-

tively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on 

or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning 

on or after December 15, 2008. Accordingly, our January 1, 2009 

adoption of SFAS 141 (R) will not impact our consolidated financial 

statements for prior periods.

SFAS 160

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling 

Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements (SFAS 160). SFAS 

160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for the noncon-

trolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a sub-

sidiary. It also clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is 

an ownership interest in a consolidated entity that should be report-

ed as equity in the consolidated financial statements. In addition, 

SFAS 160 requires (i) that consolidated net income include the 

amounts attributable to both the parent and noncontrolling interest, 

(ii) that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net income when a sub-

sidiary is deconsolidated and (iii) expanded disclosures that clearly 

identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent owners 

and the interests of the noncontrolling owners of a subsidiary. 

SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal periods, and interim periods within 

those fiscal years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008. 

The Company will adopt SFAS 160 on January 1, 2009. With the 

 exception of the presentation of minority interests in subsidiaries, 

which will be reclassified to a noncontrolling interest’s line item  

within stockholders’ equity for all periods presented, the provisions 

of SFAS 160 will be applied prospectively.

SFAS 161

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, Disclosures about 

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—an amendment of 

FASB Statement No 133 (SFAS 161). SFAS 161 changes the disclo-

sure requirements for derivative instruments and hedging activities. 

Entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures about (i) how 

and why an entity uses derivative instruments, (ii) how derivative in-

struments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS 

133 and its related interpretations and (iii) how derivative instruments 

and related hedged items affect an entity's financial position, finan-

cial performance, and cash flows. SFAS 161 is effective for financial 

statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after 

November 15, 2008. SFAS 161 encourages, but does not require, 

comparative disclosures for earlier periods at initial adoption. The 

Company will begin applying the provisions of SFAS 161 prospec-

tively on January 1, 2009.

FSP 142-3

In April 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. 142-3, 

Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets (FSP 142-3). 

FSP 142-3 amends the factors an entity should consider in develop-

ing renewal or extension assumptions used in determining the useful 

life of recognized intangible assets under SFAS 142. This change is 

intended to improve the consistency between the useful life of a rec-

ognized intangible asset under SFAS 142 and the period of expected 

cash flows used to measure the fair value of the asset under SFAS 

141(R) and other U.S. GAAP. FSP 142-3 also requires expanded dis-

closure related to the determination of intangible asset useful lives. 

This new guidance applies prospectively to intangible assets that are 

acquired individually or with a group of other assets in business 

combinations and asset acquisitions. FSP 142-3 is effective for fi-

nancial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods begin-

ning after December 15, 2008 and early adoption is prohibited. The 

Company will begin applying the provisions of FSP 142-3 prospec-

tively on January 1, 2009.

EITF 08-06

In September 2008, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached 

a consensus on EITF Issue No. 08-06, Equity Method Investment 

Accounting Considerations (EITF 08-06). EITF 08-06 provides guid-

ance for the accounting of equity-method investments as a result of 

the accounting changes prescribed by SFAS 141 (R) and SFAS 160. 

EITF 08-06 includes clarification on the following: (i) transaction 

costs should be included in the initial carrying value of the equity 

method investment, (ii) an impairment assessment of an underlying 

indefinite-lived intangible asset of an equity-method investment need 

only be performed as part of any other-than-temporary impairment 

evaluation of the equity-method investment as a whole and does not 

need to be performed annually, (iii) the equity-method investee’s is-

suance of shares should be accounted for as the sale of a propor-

tionate share of the investment, which may result in a gain or loss in 
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income, and (iv) a gain or loss should not be recognized when 

changing the method of accounting for an investment from the equi-

ty method to the cost method. EITF 08-06 is effective on a prospec-

tive basis in fiscal years and interim periods beginning on or after 

December 15, 2008 and early adoption is prohibited. The Company 

will adopt EITF 08-06 on January 1, 2009 and does not expect this 

adoption to have a material impact on our consolidated financial 

statements.

(u) Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 

current year presentation.

2. Acquisitions

The Company acquired varying interests, primarily in cable television 

companies, during the periods presented. The Company utilized the 

purchase method of accounting for all such acquisitions and, ac-

cordingly, has allocated the purchase price based on the estimated 

fair value of the assets and liabilities of the acquired companies, with 

the exception being shares purchased from its parent company, 

which were treated as transactions between entities under common 

control. The assets, liabilities and operations of such companies 

have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements since the dates of their respective acquisitions. During 

2007 and 2008, the Company completed the following significant 

acquisitions:

 Acquisition of JTV Thematics

In September 2007, Jupiter and JTV Thematics executed a merger 

agreement under which JTV Thematics was merged with Jupiter. 

This merger has been treated as the acquisition of JTV Thematics by 

the Company. The Company has accounted for the acquisition of 

JTV Thematics under the provisions of SFAS 141 whereby the JTV 

Thematics interest acquired from SC has been accounted for using 

the purchase method of accounting and the JTV Thematics interest 

acquired from Liberty Programming Japan (LPJ), a wholly owned in-

direct subsidiary of LGI, has been treated as a transaction between 

entities under common control. Accordingly, for accounting purpos-

es, the Company’s cost to acquire JTV Thematics includes (i) 

¥26,839 million representing the value assigned to the 253,676 ordi-

nary shares issued to SC based on the averaged quoted market 

price of the Company’s ordinary shares for the period beginning two 

trading days before and ending two trading days after the terms of 

the merger were agreed to and announced (May 22, 2007), (ii) 

¥6,708 million representing the value assigned to the 253,675 ordi-

nary shares issued to LPJ, based on LPJ’s historical cost basis in 

JTV Thematics at September 1, 2007 and (iii) ¥399 million represent-

ing direct acquisition costs. The aggregate cost basis assigned to 

the JTV Thematics interests acquired by the Company, as detailed 

above, has been allocated to the acquired identifiable net assets of 

JTV Thematics based on their respective fair values, and the excess 

of the aggregate cost basis over fair value of such identifiable net as-

sets was allocated to goodwill. Pursuant to the finalized purchase 

price allocation, the Company recorded approximately ¥18,507 mil-

lion as goodwill for the excess consideration over the fair value of 

the net assets and liabilities acquired from the JTV Thematics 

 acquisition. Upon the acquisition of JTV Thematics, the Company’s 

new direct subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 were as follows:

 Ownership Percentage

Jupiter Entertainment Co., Ltd.  100.00%

Jupiter Golf Network Co., Ltd.  89.41%

JSBC2 Co., Ltd.  100.00%

Reality TV Japan Co., Ltd.  50.00%

Jupiter Sports Inc.  100.00%

J-Sports LLC  100.00%

 Acquisition of Mediatti 

On December 25, 2008, the Company acquired 68,275 shares, or 

100% of the outstanding stock of Mediatti Communications, Inc. 

(Mediatti), the third largest cable television operator in Japan, for to-

tal cash consideration of ¥28,351 million. The Company acquired 

Mediatti in order to achieve certain financial, operating and strategic 

benefits through the integration with the Company’s existing opera-

tions. The Company has accounted for the acquisition of Mediatti 

under the provision of SFAS 141, whereby the interests acquired 

from third parties have been accounted for using the purchase 

method of accounting, and the interest acquired from Liberty Japan 

MC, LLC (LMC), a indirect subsidiary of LGI treated as a transaction 

between entities under common control. The cost to acquire 

Mediatti includes (i) ¥15,463 million representing cash paid to third 

parties, (ii) ¥12,888 million representing cash paid to LMC, and (iii) 

¥229 million representing direct acquisition costs. The ¥5,588 million 

difference between the cash paid to LMC and the carrying value 

of its investment in Mediatti was reflected in the Company’s 

 consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity as a distribution 

to parent.

 The aggregate cost basis assigned to the Mediatti interest 

 acquired has been allocated to the acquired identifiable net assets 

based on a preliminary assessment of their respective fair values, 

with the excess allocated to goodwill. This allocation is considered 

preliminary and subject to adjustment based on the final assess-

ment of the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities.
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  Opening Balance Sheet Information for the Significant 

2007 and 2008 Acquisitions

A summary of the purchase price and opening balance sheets for 

the above mentioned significant acquisitions is presented below:

 Yen in millions

 JTV Thematics Mediatti

 September 1, 2007 December 25, 2008

Cash, receivables and other assets ¥  3,667 ¥  9,723

Investments 12,221 307

Property and equipment 1,025 27,403

Goodwill 18,507 19,737

Identifiable intangible assets, net 

 (Customer relationships)  — 4,555

Identifiable intangible assets, net 

 (Distribution franchises) 15,380 —

Debt and capital lease obligations (3,061) (26,307)

Other liabilities (13,793) (12,426)

Additional paid in capital (1) — 5,588

  Total purchase price  ¥ 33,946 ¥ 28,580

Purchase price

 Cash consideration (1) ¥   — ¥ 28,351

 Issuance of stock  33,547 —

 Direct acquisition costs  399 229

   ¥ 33,946 ¥ 28,580

(1) Cash consideration above includes ¥12,888 million of cash paid to LMC, 
an indirect subsidiary of LGI. The ¥5,588 million difference between the cash 
paid to LMC and the carrying value of its investment in Mediatti has been 
reflected in additional paid-in capital as a distribution to parent.

  Pro Forma Information for 2007 and 2008 Significant 

Acquisitions

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated operating results for 

2007 and 2008 give effect to (i) the JTV Thematics acquisition as if it 

had been completed as of January 1, 2007 (for 2007 results) and (ii) 

the Mediatti acquisition as if it had been completed as of January 1, 

2007 (for 2007 and 2008 results). These pro forma amounts are not 

necessarily indicative of the operating results that would have oc-

curred if these transactions had occurred on such dates. The pro 

forma adjustments are based upon currently available information 

and upon certain assumptions that the Company believes are 

 reasonable.

 Yen in millions, except per share amounts

Years ended December 31, 2007 2008

Revenue  ¥285,765 ¥310,452

Net income  ¥ 23,725 27,480

Net income per share:

 Basic  ¥ 3,433 ¥ 4,009

 Diluted  ¥ 3,423 ¥ 4,006

 In addition to the above 2007 and 2008 significant acquisitions, 

the Company also made less significant acquisitions and purchased 

additional shares from minority shareholders of certain subsidiaries, 

including (i) the July 2007 step-acquisition of Cable Net-Kobe/

Ashiya, which increased the Company’s ownership from 69.41% to 

78.85%, (ii) the July 2007 acquisition of an 80.01% controlling inter-

est in Recruit Visual Communication (subsequently called J:COM 

Visual Communication), (iii) the January 31, 2008 acquisition of an 

99.23% controlling interest in Kyoto Cable Communications Co., 

Ltd., (iv) the February 29, 2008 asset purchase of Kobe City 

Development & Management Foundation, (v) the August 25, 2008 

step-acquisition of Fukuoka Cable Network Co. Ltd., which in-

creased the Company’s ownership from 45.00% to 63.50% control-

ling interest, and (vi) the December 1, 2008 acquisition of an 97.91% 

controlling interest in Jyohoku New Media Co., Ltd. (Taito Cable 

Television).

3. Investments in Affiliates

The Company’s affiliates are primarily engaged in the broadband 

communications services and related businesses in Japan. At 

December 31, 2008, the Company held the following investments:

Investment Ownership Percentage

Discovery Japan, Inc.  50.00%

Kadokawa—J:COM Media Co., Ltd.  50.00%

Jupiter Satellite Broadcasting Co., Ltd.  50.00%

AXN Japan, Inc.  35.00%

J Sports Broadcasting Corporation  33.37% 

Animal Planet Japan Co., Ltd.  33.33%

InteracTV Co., Ltd.  32.50%

Japan Digital Serve Corporation  26.51%

Green City Cable Television Corporation  20.00%

 The carrying value of investments in affiliates as of December 31, 

2007 and 2008 includes ¥14,733,668 thousand and ¥6,002,490 

thousand, respectively, of unamortized excess cost of investments 

over the Company’s equity in the net assets of the affiliates. 

Amounts associated with intangible assets other than goodwill are 

amortized over their estimated useful lives. At December 31, 2008, 

such estimated useful lives are 17 years. 
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4. Goodwill and Identifiable Intangible Assets

 Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended 

December 31, 2007 and 2008, consisted of the following:

 Yen in millions 

 2007 2008

Goodwill, beginning of year ¥202,267 ¥221,493

Acquisitions and acquisition  

 related adjustments 19,956 25,507

Initial recognition of acquired tax  

 benefits allocated to reduce goodwill  

 of acquired entities (Note 10) (730) (804)

Goodwill, end of year ¥221,493 ¥246,196

 Intangible Assets

Identifiable intangible assets include customer relationships, distri-

bution franchises and trademark which are originally recorded at fair 

value in connection with business combinations. Customer relation-

ships and distribution franchises are amortized on a straight-line ba-

sis over their respective estimated useful lives, which are 10 and 17 

years, respectively, and reviewed for impairment in accordance with 

SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-

Lived Assets (SFAS 144). Trademark, for which useful life is not cur-

rently determinable, is not amortized and is reviewed for impairment 

in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible 

Assets. 

 The intangible assets, net at December 31, 2007 and 2008, con-

sisted of the following:

 Yen in millions 

 Gross carrying  Accumulated  Net carrying  
 amount amortization amount

2007

Customer relationships  ¥22,891 ¥(3,598) ¥19,293

Distribution franchises 13,827 (258) 13,569

 ¥36,718 ¥(3,856) ¥32,862

2008

Customer relationships  ¥29,775 ¥ (6,026) ¥23,749

Distribution franchises 15,333 (1,163) 14,170

Trademark 240 — 240

 ¥45,348 ¥ (7,189) ¥38,159

 The Company recorded amortization expenses of ¥2,528,245 

thousand and ¥3,333,677 thousand for the years ended December 

31, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

 Estimated amortization expense of intangible assets is expected 

to be as follows:

Years ending December 31, Yen in millions

2009 ¥ 3,882

2010 3,882

2011 3,882

2012 3,882

2013 3,882

Thereafter 18,509

  ¥37,919

 Condensed financial information of the Company’s unconsolidat-

ed affiliates at December 31, 2007 and 2008, and for the periods in 

which the Company used the equity method to account for these 

 affiliates during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008, is 

as follows:

 Yen in millions 

 2007 2008

Combined Financial Position:

 Property and equipment, net ¥21,759 ¥ 4,629

 Other assets, net 24,780 26,702

  Total assets ¥46,539 ¥31,331

 Debt ¥10,463 ¥ 1,820

 Other liabilities 24,731 16,217

 Shareholders’ equity 11,345 13,294

  Total liabilities and equity ¥46,539 ¥31,331

 Yen in millions 

 2007 2008

Combined Operations:

 Total revenue ¥ 29,980 ¥ 52,333

 Operating, selling, general  

  and administrative expenses (24,656) (45,350)

 Depreciation and amortization (2,990) (3,104)

  Operating income 2,334 3,879

 Interest expense, net (235) (139)

 Other expense, net (1,049) (1,561)

  Net income ¥  1,050 ¥  2,179
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5. Related Party Transactions

 Yen in millions

Years ended December 31, 2007 2008

Revenue earned from  

 related parties (a) ¥ 9,589 ¥12,755

Operating expenses charged by  

 related parties (b) 10,734 13,824

SG&A expenses charged by  

 related parties (c) 2,482 3,359

Interest expense, net, charged by  

 related parties (d) 1,332 1,479

Capital lease additions (e) 18,105 14,822

a)  During the periods presented, the Company provided program-

ming, construction, management, administrative, call center and 

distribution services to certain affiliates. In addition, the Company 

sells construction materials to certain affiliates and receives distri-

bution fees from a SC subsidiary. As a result of certain transac-

tions completed by the Company during 2008, these affiliates 

became subsidiaries and, in future periods, the revenue from 

these entities will be eliminated in consolidation.

b)  The Company (i) purchases certain cable television programming 

from its affiliates, (ii) incurs rental expense for the use of certain 

vehicles and equipment under operating leases with certain sub-

sidiaries of SC, and (iii) incurs billing system expense from a SC 

subsidiary.

c)  The Company has management service agreements with SC un-

der which officers and management level employees are second-

ed from SC to the Company and whose services are charged as 

service fees to the Company based on their payroll costs. 

Amounts also include rental expense for the use of certain vehi-

cles under operating leases with same subsidiary mentioned 

 under b) and IT support expense paid to the SC entities.

d)  Amounts consist of related party interest expense, primarily 

 related to assets leased from SC entities.

e)  The Company leases, in the form of capital leases, customer 

premise equipment, various office equipment and vehicles from 

certain SC entities. At December 31, 2007 and 2008, capital 

lease obligations of ¥46,006 million and ¥54,060 million, 

 respectively, were owed to these SC entities.

Certain of the Company’s equity-method affiliates deposit excess 

funds with the Company. The aggregate amount owed by the 

Company to these equity-method affiliates at December 31, 2007 

and 2008, were ¥3,536 million and ¥4,124 million, respectively.

6. Debt

A summary of debt as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, is as follows:

 Yen in millions

   2007 2008

Short-term loans, variable interest at 1.35% to 3.50% and 1.11% to 1.98%  

 as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively ¥  2,625 ¥  6,092

¥155 Billion Facility, due fiscal 2009 – 2010 54,226 39,969

Other term loans and revolving facility, due fiscal 2011 – 2013 92,000 125,000

0% secured loans from Development Bank of Japan, due fiscal 2009 – 2019 14,287 14,343

Secured loans from Development Bank of Japan, due fiscal 2009 – 2018, interest at 0.65% to 4.85% 4,014 3,629

Total  167,152 189,033

Less: current portion (23,933) (18,545)

Long-term debt, less current portion ¥143,219 ¥ 170,488

 ¥155 Billion Facility

In December 2005, the Company entered into a credit facility agree-

ment with a syndicate of banks (the ¥155 Billion Facility). The ¥155 

Billion Facility originally consisted of three facilities: a ¥30 billion five-

year revolving credit loan (the Revolving Loan); an ¥85 billion five-

year amortizing term loan (the Tranche A Term Loan); and a ¥40 

billion seven-year amortizing term loan (the Tranche B Term Loan). 

Borrowings may be made under the ¥155 Billion Facility on a senior, 

unsecured basis. Amounts repaid under the Tranche A and B term 

loans may not be reborrowed. 

 The Revolving Loan and the Tranche A Term Loan bear interest 

equal to Japanese Yen TIBOR plus a variable margin to be adjusted 

based on the leverage ratio of the Company. The weighted-average 

 interest rate, including applicable margins, on the Tranche A Term Loan 

at December 31, 2008 was 1.12%. Borrowings under the Revolving 

Loan may be used for general corporate purposes. Amounts drawn 

under the Tranche A Term Loan have a final maturity date of December 

31, 2010, and amortize in quarterly installments. The final maturity 

date of all amounts outstanding under the Revolving Loan is December 

31, 2010 and will be available for drawdown until one month prior to its 

final maturity. A commitment fee of 0.20% per annum is payable on the 

available commitment under the Revolving Loan.

 In addition to customary restrictive covenants and events of de-

fault, including defaults on other indebtedness of the Company and 

its subsidiaries, the unsecured ¥155 Billion Facility requires compli-

ance with various financial covenants such as (i) Maximum Senior 
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Debt to EBITDA, (ii) Minimum Debt Service Coverage Ratio, and (iii) a 

Total Shareholder’s Equity test, each capitalized term as defined in 

the Facility. 

 In December 2008, the Company used ¥22 billion of the 

Revolving Loan to fund the Mediatti purchase price and to repay the 

then existing Mediatti debt. At December 31, 2008, ¥8 billion was 

available for borrowing under the Revolving Loan. The Revolving 

Loan provides for an annual commitment fee of 0.20% on the un-

used portion.

 Other Term Loans

From March to May of 2006, the Company refinanced ¥38 billion 

and ¥2 billion, respectively, of the Tranche B Term Loan with ¥20 bil-

lion of fixed interest rate loans and ¥20 billion of variable interest rate 

loans. The fixed interest rate loans had a weighted-average interest 

rate of 2.08%, while the new variable interest rate loans had a 

weighted-average interest rate of Japanese Yen LIBOR plus 0.30% 

(1.408% as of December 31, 2008 including margin). These loans, 

which contain covenants similar to those of the ¥155 Billion Facility, 

mature in 2013 and are each to be repaid in one installment on their 

respective maturity dates.

 In connection with the September 2006 acquisition of Cable 

West, the Company entered into (i) a ¥2 billion variable interest rate 

term loan agreement, (ii) a ¥20 billion seven-year fixed interest rate 

term loan agreement and (iii) a ¥30 billion syndicated term loan 

agreement. The ¥2 billion and ¥20 billion term loans were fully drawn 

in September 2006. On October 27, 2006, the full amount of the ¥30 

billion syndicated term loan was drawn and ¥14 billion of the pro-

ceeds was used to repay the then outstanding balance of the 

Revolving Loan. The new term loans mature between 2011 and 

2013. The interest rate on the ¥2 billion term loan is based on the 

six-month Japanese Yen TIBOR plus a margin of 0.25% (1.155% as 

of December 31, 2008 including margin). The ¥20 billion term loan 

bears interest as to ¥10 billion of the outstanding principal amount at 

a fixed interest rate of 1.72% and as to the remaining ¥10 billion prin-

cipal amount at a fixed interest rate of 1.90%. The ¥30 billion syndi-

cated term loan bears interest at (i) Japanese Yen LIBOR plus a 

margin of 0.25% as to the ¥10 billion principal amount that is due in 

October 2011, (ii) Japanese Yen LIBOR plus a margin of 0.35% as 

to the ¥19.5 billion principal amount that is due in October 2013 and 

(iii) a fixed rate of 2.05% as to the ¥0.5 billion principal amount that is 

due in October 2013. These loans contain covenants similar to those 

of the ¥155 Billion Facility.

 On March 31, 2008, the Company entered into a ¥25 billion syndi-

cated term loan (2008 Term Loan). On April 16, 2008 the full amount 

of the 2008 Term Loan was drawn and the proceeds were used to 

repay a portion of the outstanding 2005 Tranche A Term Loan. The 

applicable margin for the 2008 Term Loan is three month Japanese 

Yen TIBOR plus a margin of 0.20% and borrowings are due and pay-

able in one installment on April 16, 2014. The 2008 Term Loan con-

tains covenants similar to those of the ¥155 Billion Facility. 

 Revolving Facility

On September 28, 2007, the Company entered into a ¥10 billion re-

volving credit facility (Revolving Facility) agreement with a syndicate 

of banks with an interest rate based on the Japanese Yen TIBOR 

plus a margin of 0.35%. Borrowings under the Revolving Facility, 

which matures on September 14, 2012, may be used for general 

corporate purposes. In addition to customary restrictive covenants 

and events of default, the unsecured Revolving Facility requires 

compliance with various financial covenants such as (i) Minimum 

Working Capital, (ii) Maximum Senior Debt to EBITDA, and (iii) 

Minimum Debt Service Coverage Ratio as defined in the Revolving 

Facility agreement. 

 In December 2008, the Company used ¥8 billion to fund the 

Mediatti acquisition and repay the then existing Mediatti debt. As 

of December 31, 2008, ¥2 billion was available for borrowing under 

the Revolving Facility. The Revolving Facility provides for an annual 

commitment fee of 0.10% on the unused portion.

 Development Bank of Japan Loans

The loans represent institutional loans from the Development Bank 

of Japan (“DBJ”), which were made available to telecommunication 

companies operating in specific local areas designated as “Teletopia” 

by the MIC to facilitate the development of local telecommunication 

networks. Requirements to qualify for such financing include use of 

fiber optical cables, equity participation by local and municipal gov-

ernment and guarantee by third parties, among other thing. These 

loans were originally obtained by the Company’s subsidiaries and 

were primarily guaranteed, directly or indirectly, by the Company’s 

major shareholders at the time. However, in connection with the 

¥155 Billion Facility, these loans are now guaranteed by the 

Company.

 Securities on Long-term Debt

Non-syndicated bank facility loans from DBJ to certain of the 

Company’s subsidiaries are secured by substantially all property and 

equipment held by such subsidiaries. At December 31, 2008, the 

aggregate net carrying amount of this property and equipment was 

approximately ¥79,895 million. 

 The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt outstanding at 

December 31, 2008 are as follows:

Years ending December 31, Yen in millions

2009 ¥ 12,453

2010 34,353

2011 19,248

2012 18,602

2013 69,882

Thereafter 28,403

  ¥182,941
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7. Leases

The Company and its subsidiaries are obligated under various capi-

tal leases, primarily for home terminals, and other noncancelable op-

erating leases, which expire at various dates during the next 20 

years. See Note 5 for further discussion of capital leases from sub-

sidiaries of SC.

 At December 31, 2007 and 2008, the amount of property and 

equipment and related accumulated depreciation recorded under 

capital leases were as follows:

 Yen in millions 

 2007 2008

Distribution system and equipment ¥ 79,657 ¥ 91,465

Support equipment and buildings 5,258 6,005

Other assets 278 351

Less: accumulated depreciation (31,445) (39,365)

   ¥ 53,748 ¥ 58,456

 Depreciation of assets under capital leases is included in depreci-

ation and amortization in the accompanying consolidated state-

ments of income. 

 Future minimum lease payments under capital leases and non-

cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2008 are  

as follows:

 Yen in millions

Years ending December 31, Capital Leases Operating Leases

2009 ¥ 20,022 ¥  578

2010 17,778 516

2011 13,576 207

2012 9,676 156

2013 5,233 97

More than five years 1,401 163

Total minimum lease payments 67,686 ¥1,717

Less: amount representing interest  

 (rates ranging from 0.20% to 9.98%) (3,755)

Present value of net minimum payments 63,931

Less: current portion (18,463)

Noncurrent portion ¥ 45,468

 The Company and its subsidiaries occupy certain offices under 

cancelable lease arrangements. Rental expenses for such leases for 

the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008, totaled ¥4,307,010 

thousand and ¥5,996,758 thousand, respectively, and are included 

in operating expense and selling, general and administrative expens-

es in the accompanying consolidated statements of income. Also, 

the Company and its subsidiaries occupy certain transmission facili-

ties and use poles and other equipment under cancelable lease ar-

rangements. Rental expenses for such leases for the years ended 

December 31, 2007 and 2008, totaled ¥12,699,492 thousand and 

¥13,881,697 thousand respectively, and are included in operating 

expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.

8. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

At December 31, 2007 and 2008, the Company believes that the fair 

value and carrying value of its debt are approximately equal. For fi-

nancial instruments other than debt, the carrying value approximates 

fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. For 

 additional information about the derivative instruments, see Note 9.

9. Fair Value Measurements

The Company uses the fair value method to account for its derivative 

instruments. The reported fair values of these assets and liabilities as 

of December 31, 2008 likely will not represent the value that will be 

realized upon the ultimate settlement or disposition of these assets 

and liabilities. With respect to interest rate swaps and forward con-

tracts, the Company expects that the values realized will be based 

on market conditions at the time of settlement, which may occur at 

the maturity of the derivative instrument or at the time of the repay-

ment or refinancing of the underlying debt instrument.

  SFAS 157 provides for a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the in-

puts to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three 

broad levels. Level 1 inputs are quoted market prices in active mar-

kets for identical assets or liabilities that the reporting entity has the 

ability to access at the measurement date. Level 2 inputs are inputs 

other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are ob-

servable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 

inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 The key inputs to our valuation models are obtained from external 

pricing services. These inputs, or interpolations or extrapolations 

thereof, are used in our internal models to calculate, among other 

items, yield curves, and forward interest and currency rates. In 

the normal course of business, the Company receives fair value 
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 assessments from the counterparties to our derivative contracts. 

Although the Company compares these assessments to its internal 

valuations and investigates unexpected differences, the Company 

does not otherwise rely on counterparty quotes to determine the fair 

values of our derivative instruments. As allowed by SFAS 157, the 

midpoints of applicable bid and ask ranges generally are used as in-

puts for our internal valuations.

 As described in Note 1(e) Derivative Instruments, the Company 

has entered into interest rate swaps and foreign currency exchange 

derivative instruments. The fair value measurements of these are de-

termined using cash flow models. These cash flow models consist 

of, or are derived from, observable Level 2 data for the full term of 

these derivative instruments. This observable data includes interest 

rates, swap rates and yield curves, which are retrieved or derived 

from available market data. Although the Company may extrapolate 

or interpolate this data, the Company does not otherwise alter this 

data in performing its valuations. SFAS 157 requires the incorpora-

tion of a credit risk valuation adjustment in its fair value measure-

ments to estimate the impact of both our own nonperformance risk 

and the nonperformance risk of our counterparties. Our and our 

counterparties’ credit spreads are Level 3 inputs that are used to 

derive the credit risk valuation adjustments with respect to our 

 various interest rate and foreign currency derivative valuations. As 

the Company would not expect changes in our or our counterparties’ 

credit spreads to have a significant impact on the overall valuations 

of our interest rate swaps and our foreign currency exchange deriva-

tive instruments, the Company believes that the valuations of these 

derivative instruments fall under Level 2 of the SFAS 157 hierarchy.

 A summary of the assets and liabilities measured at fair value that 

are included in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 

2008 is as follows: 

 Yen in millions

Description December 31, 2008 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets: 

Derivative instruments ¥— ¥  8 ¥—

Total assets ¥— ¥  8 ¥—

Liabilities:

Derivative instruments ¥— ¥1,995 ¥—

Total liabilities ¥— ¥1,995 ¥—

10. Income Taxes

All pretax income and related tax expense is derived solely from 

Japanese operations. Income tax expense for the years ended 

December 31, 2007 and 2008, is as follows:

 Yen in millions 

 2007 2008

Current ¥11,857 ¥16,704

Deferred 1,657 2,772

Income tax expense ¥13,514 ¥19,476

 The effective rates of income tax benefit (expense) relating to in-

come (losses) incurred differ from the rates that would result from 

applying the normal statutory tax rates for the years ended 

December 31, 2007 and 2008 are as follows:

  2007 2008

Normal effective statutory tax rate 40.7% 40.7%

 Decrease in valuation allowance (8.7) (1.6)

 Non-deductible expenses and other 2.3 0.1

Effective tax rate   34.3% 39.2%

 The effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that give 

rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2007 and 

2008, are as follows:

 Yen in millions 

 2007 2008

Deferred tax assets:

 Lease obligations ¥22,438 ¥25,898

 Deferred revenue 19,546 23,752

 Accrued expenses and other  5,087 5,377

 Net operating loss carryforwards 3,760 4,353

 Property and equipment  2,282 1,686

 Total gross deferred tax assets 53,113 61,066

 Less: valuation allowance (1,849) (1,991)

 Deferred tax assets, net  

  of valuation allowance 51,264 59,075

Deferred tax liabilities:

 Property and equipment 29,004 35,801

 Intangible assets 13,620 15,798

 Investments  4,357  2,975

 Other 765 762

 Total gross deferred tax liabilities 47,746 55,336

 Net deferred tax assets ¥ 3,518 ¥ 3,739
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 Deferred income tax valuation allowance increased ¥141,116 

thousand in 2008. This increase reflects the net effect of (i) net tax 

benefit recorded in the Company’s consolidated statements of in-

come of ¥808,074 thousand, (ii) increases due to acquisitions and 

similar transactions of ¥1,894,111 thousand, (iii) decreases due to 

valuation allowances released to goodwill of ¥804,383 thousand 

and (iv) certain other items of ¥140,538 thousand. 

 In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company 

considers whether it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all 

of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization 

of deferred tax assets is dependent upon, among other factors, the 

generation of future taxable income during the periods in which 

those temporary differences become deductible. The Company 

considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected 

future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this as-

sessment. Based upon the level of historical taxable income and 

projections for future taxable income over the periods in which the 

deferred tax assets are deductible, management expects to realize 

its deferred tax assets net of existing valuation allowance. 

 At December 31, 2008, the Company had net operating loss car-

ryforwards for income tax purposes of ¥10,699,001 thousand, which 

were available to offset future taxable income. Net operating loss 

carryforwards, if not utilized, will expire in each of the years as follows: 

Years ending December 31, Yen in millions

2009 ¥ 2,321

2010 2,678

2011 1,145

2012 1,971

2013 1,084

Thereafter 1,500

  ¥10,699

 The changes in the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits during 

2008 are summarized below: 

 Yen in millions

Balance at January 1, 2008 ¥16,458

Addition based on tax positions  

 related to the current year 3,617

Reductions for tax positions of prior years (3,617)

Balance at December 31, 2008 ¥16,458

 No assurance can be given that any of these tax benefits will be 

recognized or realized. 

 All of the Company’s December 31, 2008 unrecognized tax bene-

fits would have a favorable impact on the Company’s effective in-

come tax rate if ultimately recognized.

 The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to corporate in-

come tax of the National Tax Administrative Agency. Substantially all 

material income tax examinations have been concluded for tax years 

through 2003. Currently, the Company and its subsidiaries are not 

under examination in any jurisdictions in which the Company oper-

ates. Although it is reasonably possible that an examination could be 

conducted during 2009 that would result in changes to the 

Company’s unrecognized tax benefits related to tax positions taken 

as of December 31, 2008, the Company does not expect that any 

such changes will have a material impact on its 2009 effective tax 

rate. The Company does not expect that any such possible changes 

will have a material impact on our unrecognized tax benefits. No as-

surance can be given as to the nature or impact of changes in the 

Company’s unrecognized tax positions during 2009.

 During 2008, the Company recognized income tax expense of 

¥545,680 thousand representing the accrual of penalties, and inter-

est expense of ¥507,471 thousand representing the accrual of inter-

est from estimated penalties during the period. In addition, the 

Company’s other long-term liabilities include accrued interest and 

penalties of ¥1,201,837 thousand at December 31, 2008. 

11. Severance and Retirement Plans

On October 1, 2005, the Company adopted a defined contribution 

retirement plan for substantially all of its full-time employees. This 

plan was adopted as a replacement to the unfunded defined bene-

fit severance and retirement plan which terminated for full-time em-

ployees on September 30, 2005, excluding certain directors and 

employees in a subsidiary acquired in 2005. The Company con-

tributions under the new defined contribution retirement plan for 

the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008 were ¥329,287 

 thousand and ¥528,188 thousand, respectively.

 Certain directors, statutory auditors and employees within certain 

subsidiaries acquired in 2006 participate in unfunded defined benefit 

severance and retirement plans. Employees terminating their em-

ployment after a two or three year vesting period are entitled, under 

most circumstances, to lump-sum severance payments determined 

by reference to their rate of pay at the time of termination, years of 

service and certain other factors. The measurement date used to 

determine assumptions was December 31, 2008.

 Net periodic cost of the Company and its subsidiaries’ plans 

 accounted for in accordance with SFAS 87 for the years ended 

December 31, 2007 and 2008 included the following components:

 Yen in millions 

 2007 2008

Service cost—benefits earned  

 during the year ¥ 67 ¥11

Interest cost on projected  

 benefit obligation 10 1

Actuarial gain (29) (1)

Net periodic cost ¥ 48 ¥11
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 The reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of the benefit 

obligations of the Company and its subsidiaries’ plans accounted for 

in accordance with SFAS 87 are as follows:

 Yen in millions 

 2007 2008

Change in benefit obligation:

 Benefit obligation, beginning of year ¥ 480 ¥54

 Service cost 67 11

 Interest cost 10 1

 Actuarial gain (29) (1)

 Benefits paid (474) (2)

  Benefit obligation, end of year ¥  54 ¥63

 The weighted-average discount rates used in the determination of 

the Company and its subsidiaries’ plans projected benefit obligation 

and net pension cost as of and for the years ended December 31, 

2007 and 2008 are as follows:

 2007 2008

Projected benefit obligation:

 Discount rate 2.0% 2.0%

Net pension cost:

 Discount rate 2.0% 2.0%

 SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or 

underfunded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan as an 

asset or liability in its statement of financial position and recognize 

changes in the funded status as other comprehensive gains (losses) 

in the year in which changes occur. SFAS 158 also requires that the 

defined benefit plan assets and obligations be measured as of the 

date of the employer’s fiscal year-end balance sheet. The Company 

adopted SFAS 158 as of December 31, 2006, however, there was no 

material impact upon adoption, as the Comapny’s defined benefit 

severance and retirement plan was terminated in 2005 and it recog-

nized the net pension liability for the newly acquired subsidiaries in 

the purchase price allocation based on the projected benefit obliga-

tion, thereby eliminating any previously unrecognized gain or loss, 

prior service cost and transition asset or obligation.

 In addition, employees of the Company participate in a multiem-

ployer defined benefit plan. The Company contributions to this plan 

amounted to ¥872,124 thousand and ¥1,072,763 thousand for the 

years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively.

12. Shareholders’ Equity

 Dividends

Under the Japanese Corporate Law (“the Law”), the amount available 

for dividends is based on retained earnings as recorded on the books 

of Jupiter maintained in conformity with financial accounting standards 

of Japan. Certain adjustments not recorded on the Jupiter books are 

reflected in the consolidated financial statements for reasons described 

in Note 1. At December 31, 2008, total retained earnings recorded on 

the Jupiter books of account were ¥16,363,168 thousand. 

 The Law provides that an amount equal to at least 10% of the ag-

gregate amount of cash dividends and certain other appropriations 

of retained earnings associated with cash outlays applicable to each 

fiscal period shall be appropriated as a legal reserve (a component 

of retained earnings) until such reserve and additional paid-in capital 

equals 25% of common stock. The amount of total additional paid-in 

capital and legal reserve that exceeds 25% of common stock may 

be available for appropriations by resolution of the stockholders. In 

addition, the Law permits the transfer of a portion of additional paid-

in capital and legal reserve to common stock by resolution of the 

Board of Directors.

 Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has granted options and stock purchase warrants un-

der various plans for certain directors and employees of the 

Company and its consolidated subsidiaries and managed affiliates, 

and certain non-employees. The warrants granted in 2001 will expire 

in August 23, 2010, and the options granted from 2002 to 2004 will 

expire in August 23, 2012. The stock-based compensation granted 

to directors in 2006, 2007 and 2008, will expire in March 31, 2026, 

April 30, 2027 and July 31, 2016, respectively. 
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 Yen in millions

   2007 2008

Cash paid for:

 Interest ¥ 4,369 ¥ 4,267

 Income tax ¥ 6,365 ¥11,399

Non-cash activities:

 Property acquired under capital leases ¥18,934 ¥15,423

 Acquisition through issuance of common stock  ¥33,547 ¥  —

13. Supplemental Disclosures to Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

14. Commitments

The Company has guaranteed payment of certain loans for a certain 

cost-method investee. The term of the guarantee is up to 15 months 

and the guaranteed amount was ¥5,000 thousand as of December 

31, 2008. Management believes that the likelihood the Company 

would be required to perform or otherwise incur any significant loss-

es associated with any of these guarantees is remote.

 The Company contracts, through subsidiaries and affiliate li-

censed broadcasting companies, to utilize capacity on three satel-

lites from two transponder service providers. The satellites generally 

have a 15-year usable life. The Company’s channels contract for a 

portion of the capacity available on a transponder according to the 

bandwidth needs of individual channels. Those licensed broadcast-

ing companies also contract for uplink services from a third compa-

ny in order to transmit each channel’s signal to the satellite. In 

addition, the Company has certain minimum guarantee contracts 

 related to its video on-demand business.

 As of December 31, 2008, the Company has commitments for 

purchasing various program rights and utilizing uplink and transpon-

der services as follows:

Years ending December 31, Yen in millions

2009 ¥3,495

2010 2,245

2011 1,042

2012 618

2013 247

Thereafter 902

  ¥8,549

 A summary of the stock option activity during the year ended December 31, 2008 is as follows:

  Weighted Average Weighted Average Aggregate 

 Number of Exercise Price Remaining Contractual Intrinsic Value 

 Shares (Yen) Term (Years) (Yen in millions)

Outstanding at beginning of the year 105,956 ¥79,625

 Granted (a) 312 1

 Expired or cancelled (2,910) 80,000

 Forfeited (18) 80,000

 Exercised (10,750) 89,406

 Outstanding at December 31, 2008 92,590 ¥79,340 2.85 ¥1,320

Exercisable at December 31, 2008 91,839 ¥79,989 2.72 ¥1,250

(a)  The exercise price of these options was significantly below the market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd. (a Japanese corporation) and 

 subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ 

equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of 

the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require 

that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial 

 reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 

and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as 

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Jupiter 

Telecommunications Co., Ltd. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows 

for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2008, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America.

Tokyo, Japan

March 25, 2009
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J:COM Group
(As of December 31, 2008)

Name
Paid-in Capital  
(Yen in millions)

Percentage of 
voting rights 

directly or indirectly 
owned  

by J:COM (%)

Cable Television Services
Consolidated (25) J:COM Tokyo Co., Ltd. 7,524 95.80 

J:COM Kita-Kyushu Co., Ltd. 2,447 86.70 
Tsuchiura Cable Television Co., Ltd. 1,500 70.33 
J:COM Shonan Co., Ltd. 5,772 82.57 
Cable Net Kobe Ashiya Co., Ltd. 2,900 78.85 
J:COM Saitama Co., Ltd. 1,600 86.42 
J:COM Kanto Co., Ltd. 15,057 100.00 
J:COM Sapporo Co., Ltd. 8,800 86.30 
J:COM Chiba Co., Ltd. 3,395 74.50 
Cable Net Shimonoseki Co., Ltd. 1,000 63.41 
J:COM West Co., Ltd. 15,500 90.92 
Takatsuki Cable Network Co., Ltd. 1,828 95.51 
Higashi-Osaka Cable Television Co., Ltd. 1,560 96.15 
Suita Cable Television Co., Ltd. 2,105 92.39 
Toyonaka Ikeda Cable Net Co., Ltd. 1,500 91.42 
Kitakawachi Cable Net Co., Ltd. 500 100.00 
Miyagi Network, Inc. 3,000 99.66 
City Cable Net, Inc. 4,326 88.08 
Mediatti Tojo Co., Ltd. 1,845 83.06 
Edogawa Cable Television 1,081 100.00 
Jyohoku New Media Co., Ltd. 1,920 97.91 
Mediatti Communications, Inc. 10,125 100.00 
Yokohama TV Corporation 2,880 100.00 
City Telecom Kanagawa, Inc. 3,000 100.00 
J:COM Fukuoka Co., Ltd. 3,200 74.78 

Affiliate (1) Green City Cable Television Co., Ltd. 1,000 20.00 

Programming
Consolidated (6) Jupiter Entertainment Co., Ltd. 1,788 100.00 

Jupiter Golf Network Co., Ltd. 1,700 89.41 
Jupiter Sports, Inc. 3 100.00 
J-Sports LLC. 2,609 100.00 
Jupiter Visual Communications Co., Ltd. 300 70.01 
Channel Ginga Co., Ltd. 200 76.00 

Affiliate (6) Discovery Japan Co., Ltd. 2,545 50.00 
Animal Planet Japan Co., Ltd. 41 33.33 
AXN Japan, Inc. 10 35.00 
Jupiter Satellite Broadcasting Co., Ltd. 60 50.00 
InteracTV Co., Ltd. 100 32.50 
J Sports Broadcasting Corporation 3,834 33.37 

Internet Services Consolidated (2) @NetHome Co., Ltd. 7,800 100.00 
Kansai Multimedia Services Co., Ltd. 480 76.50 

Financial Services Consolidated (2) J:COM Finance Co., Ltd. 3 100.00 
TM Lease Co., Ltd. 29 100.00 

Consultant of System 
 Development and Operation

Consolidated (1) J:COM Technologies Co., Ltd. 490 100.00 

Distribution Network Services Affiliate (1) Japan Digital Serve Corp. 2,250 26.95 
Regional Information Magazine 
 Planning / Production

Affiliate (1) KADOKAWA-J:COM Media Co., Ltd. 100 50.00 



Headquarters: Shiba NBF Tower, 1-1-30 Shiba Daimon, Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-0012, Japan
Date of Establishment: January 18, 1995
Paid-in Capital: ¥117.2 billion
Number of Employees: 10,744 (Group Total)
 Number of employees is the number of regular employees.
Brand Name: J:COM

Corporate Data

Name Number of Shares
 Percentage of 

  Total Shares Issued (%)

LGI/Sumisho Super Media, LLC. 3,987,238 57.47

Sumitomo Corporation 253,676 3.66

Liberty Global Japan II, LLC. 253,675 3.66

State Street Bank & Trust Company 218,968 3.16

Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 187,207 2.70

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 152,621 2.20

The Chase Manhattan N.A. London, S.L. Omnibus Account 146,513 2.11
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Forward-Looking Statements
This report contains forward-looking statements regarding the intent, belief, or current expectations of our manage-
ment with respect to future events or our future financial performance. These statements involve known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our or our industry’s actual results, levels of activity, perfor-
mance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance, or achieve-
ments expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Although we believe that the expectations reflected 
in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no assurance that these expectations will prove to be 
correct, and cannot guarantee our future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. We disclaim any 
obligation to update, or to announce publicly any revision to, any of the forward-looking statements contained in this 
report, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

Contents

Stock Listing: JASDAQ Securities Exchange
Code: 4817
Number of Shares Issued: 6,938,107
Number of Shareholders: 10,980
Transfer Agent: The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.
 4-5-33 Kitahama, Chuo-ku, Osaka-city, Osaka 541-0041, Japan
Agent’s Business Location: The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.
 Stock Transfer Agency Department
 2-3-1 Yaesu, Chuo-ku, Tokyo 104-0028, Japan
Agent’s Service Offices: Head office and domestic branches of The Sumitomo Trust and Banking Co., Ltd.
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Enriching Lives

Direct inquiries to:

Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd., IR Dept.

Shiba NBF Tower, 1-1-30 Shiba Daimon

Minato-ku, Tokyo 105-0012, Japan

Tel: 03-6765-8157 Fax: 03-6765-8091

e-mail: ir@jupiter.jcom.co.jp

http://www.jcom.co.jp

Ju
p

ite
r Te

le
c

o
m

m
u

n
ic

a
tio

n
s C

o
., L

td
.

A
n

n
u

a
l R

e
p

o
rt 20

08

Annual Report 2008
For the year ended December 31, 2008

Connecting

People

Printed in Japan


	Part2
	Part3
	Part4

